
 

NOTE TO PERSONS WITH SPECIAL NEEDS: 
The Town of Canton does not discriminate on the basis of disability. Individuals who need auxiliary aids or an interpreter at a Town 

meeting must notify the appropriate department in advance of the meeting as soon as they are able. 

   
 
 

AGENDA 
Regular Meeting  

 Canton Planning and Zoning Commission 
Wednesday, December 21, 2016 at 7:30 pm 

Community Center, Room B 
40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, CT 

 
CALL TO ORDER: 
ROLL CALL: 
READING OF THE LEGAL NOTICE: 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

1. File #347; Apln #1642; 122 Main Street; Assessor’s Map 38; Parcel 3590122; Zone B and CBD; 
Special Permits, Section 4.1.C.1.E, tattooing/tattoo parlor within the Business District; and Section 
6.1.E, uses allowed by Special Permit and Site Plan approval within the Collinsville Business Overlay 
District; Kevin Stiles, applicant; Eaton Hardware Company c/o Everett Newell, owner 
 

2. File #156, Apln #1646; Zoning Regulation Amendment; Proposed removal of Section 8.6; Design 
Review; Town of Canton Planning and Zoning Commission, applicant/owner 
 

3. File #156, Apln #1647; Zoning Regulation Amendment; Proposed edits pertaining to Mixed 
Residential Accessory Uses; Town of Canton Planning and Zoning Commission, applicant/owner 

 
4. File #156; Apln #1648; Zoning Regulation Amendment; Proposed edits to Section 7.3.D.1.n; 

Open/Closed Signs or Flags; Town of Canton Planning and Zoning Commission, applicant/owner 
 

5. File #156; Apln #1649; Zoning Regulation Amendment; Proposed edits to Section 5.1.C; Master 
Plan Requirements for Design Districts; Town of Canton Planning and Zoning Commission, 
applicant/owner 

 
6. File #156; Apln #1650; Zoning Regulation Amendment; Proposed edits pertaining to the filing of As-

Builts; Town of Canton Planning and Zoning Commission, applicant/owner 
 

7. File #453; Apln #1652; 300 and 350 Commerce Drive; Assessor’s Map 35; Parcels 3330300 and 
3330350; Zone Industrial Park District (IP); Design District Application (Section 5) consisting of: 
Zoning Regulation Amendment (Section 9.3) request to establish Section 5.8, Design District # 1, 
Canton Specialty Housing District (CSH); Zoning Map Amendment (Section 9.4), request from IP to 
CSH; and Detailed Site Development Plan Application (Section 9.1); to construct a 40-unit, three-
story, multi-family building with +/- 70 parking spaces and associated site improvements; Phil Doyle, 
applicant; Canton Commerce Center Associates, LLC c/o The Casle Corporation, owners 

 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
PUBLIC HEARING ACTIONS: 
 
1. File #347; Apln #1642; 122 Main Street; Assessor’s Map 38; Parcel 3590122; Zone B and CBD; 

Special Permits, Section 4.1.C.1.E, tattooing/tattoo parlor within the Business District; and Section 
6.1.E, uses allowed by Special Permit and Site Plan approval within the Collinsville Business Overlay 
District; Kevin Stiles, applicant; Eaton Hardware Company c/o Everett Newell, owner 

 



NOTE TO PERSONS WITH SPECIAL NEEDS: 
The Town of Canton does not discriminate on the basis of disability. Individuals who need auxiliary aids or an interpreter at a Town 

meeting must notify the appropriate department in advance of the meeting as soon as they are able. 

2. File #156, Apln #1646; Zoning Regulation Amendment; Proposed removal of Section 8.6; Design 
Review; Town of Canton Planning and Zoning Commission, applicant/owner 
 

3. File #156, Apln #1647; Zoning Regulation Amendment; Proposed edits pertaining to Mixed 
Residential Accessory Uses; Town of Canton Planning and Zoning Commission, applicant/owner 

 
4. File #156; Apln #1648; Zoning Regulation Amendment; Proposed edits to Section 7.3.D.1.n; 

Open/Closed Signs or Flags; Town of Canton Planning and Zoning Commission, applicant/owner 
 

5. File #156; Apln #1649; Zoning Regulation Amendment; Proposed edits to Section 5.1.C; Master 
Plan Requirements for Design Districts; Town of Canton Planning and Zoning Commission, 
applicant/owner 

 
6. File #156; Apln #1650; Zoning Regulation Amendment; Proposed edits pertaining to the filing of As-

Builts; Town of Canton Planning and Zoning Commission, applicant/owner 
 

7. File #453; Apln #1652; 300 and 350 Commerce Drive; Assessor’s Map 35; Parcels 3330300 and 
3330350; Zone Industrial Park District (IP); Design District Application (Section 5) consisting of: 
Zoning Regulation Amendment (Section 9.3) request to establish Section 5.8, Design District # 1, 
Canton Specialty Housing District (CSH); Zoning Map Amendment (Section 9.4), request from IP to 
CSH; and Detailed Site Development Plan Application (Section 9.1); to construct a 40-unit, three-
story, multi-family building with +/- 70 parking spaces and associated site improvements; Phil Doyle, 
applicant; Canton Commerce Center Associates, LLC c/o The Casle Corporation, owners 

 
OLD BUSINESS: None 
 
NEW BUSINESS: None 
 
OTHER BUSINESS:  
 
1. Zoning Enforcement Case Study Presentation 

2. Review minutes from the September 21, 2016 Regular Meeting, November 2, 2016 Special Meeting 
and November 21, 2016 Regular Meeting 

3. CRCOG Representative Recommendation for Regional Planning Commission 

4. Discussion of Election of Officers for 2017 

5. Discussion of the TIF Preliminary Master Plan 

6. Discussion of Possible Edits to Zoning Regulations 

a. Review of draft language pertaining to Electronic Message Board Signs 

7. Discussion of Design Regulations 

8. Discussion of Subdivision Regulations Rewrite 

9. Discussion of Streetscape Grant  

10. Staff Reports: 

a. Town Planner’s Report 

b. ZEO Report 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 



- 1 -

Exhibit List for:

File #347; Apln #1642; 122 Main Street; Assessor’s Map 38; Parcel 3590122; Zone B and CBD; Special
Permits, Section 4.1.C.1.E, tattooing/tattoo parlor within the Business District; and Section 6.1.E, uses
allowed by Special Permit and Site Plan approval within the Collinsville Business Overlay District; Kevin
Stiles, applicant; Eaton Hardware Company c/o Everett Newell, owner

List as of December 7, 2016

Correspondence:

1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #347; Apln #1642; 122 Main Street;
Assessor’s Map 38; Parcel 3590122; Zone B and CBD; Special Permits, Section 4.1.C.1.E,
tattooing/tattoo parlor within the Business District; and Section 6.1.E, uses allowed by Special Permit
and Site Plan approval within the Collinsville Business Overlay District; Kevin Stiles, applicant; Eaton
Hardware Company c/o Everett Newell, owner

2. Copy of payment; check #125

3. Floor plan for the second floor of 122 Main Street

4. Special Permit application checklist

5. Town of Canton assessment parcel map

6. Town of Canton GIS abutter map

7. Narrative describing proposed use and compliance with Special Permit criteria of Section 9.2.E

8. Abutter notice

9. Sales and use tax permit for Stiles Artistry, LLC; issued 4/6/15

10. State of Connecticut Department of Public Health tattoo technician license for Kevin Stiles; current
through 11/30/17

11. FVHD salon permit for Stiles Artistry, LLC; current through 3/31/17

12. American Red Cross first aid and bloodborne pathogens training certification; completed 8/18/16

13. FVHD salon regulations

14. Assessor’s card for 122 Main Street

15. Abutter notice from Kevin Stiles to the Town of Canton; dated 11/10/16

16. Certification of notice for posting of Public Hearing sign per Section 9.9.F of Zoning Regulations;
dated 11/29/16

17. Certificates of mailing

18. Town of Canton Legal Notice for publication in the Valley Press on 12/8/16 and 12/15/16



































































Exhibit List for:

File #453; Apln #1652; 300 and 350 Commerce Drive; Assessor’s Map 35; Parcels 3330300 and
3330350; Zone: Industrial Park District (IP); Design District Application (Section 5) consisting of: Zoning
Regulation Amendment (Section 9.3) request to establish Section 5.8, Design District # 1, Canton
Specialty Housing District (CSH); Zoning Map Amendment (Section 9.4), request from IP to CSH; and
Detailed Site Development Plan Application (Section 9.1); to construct a 40-unit, three-story, multi-family
building with +/- 70 parking spaces and associated site improvements; Phil Doyle, applicant; Canton
Commerce Center Associates, LLC c/o The Casle Corporation, owners

List as of December 16, 2016

Drawings:

1. Stormwater Pollution Control Plan: Overall Map; Dowd Avenue Industrial Park; Prepared for Casle
Corporation; Prepared by Megson & Heagle; dated 8/29/00

2. Design District #1 Canton Commerce Center 2016 IPD: Master Plan; Commerce Drive; Prepared for
Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/29/16

3. Design District #1: IP District Existing Conditions/Site Context/Index; Commerce Drive; Prepared for
Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/29/16

4. Canton Commerce Center Design District #1: Consistency with the Plan of Conservation and
Development; Commerce Drive; Prepared for Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA,
P.C.; dated 11/29/16

5. Design District #1 Canton Commerce Center: Proposed Master Plan; Commerce Drive; Prepared for
Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/29/16

6. Canton Commerce Center Design District #1: Existing Zoning; Commerce Drive; Prepared for Regan
Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/29/16

7. Canton Commerce Center Design District #1: Proposed Zoning; Commerce Drive; Prepared for
Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/29/16

8. ALTA/NSPS Land Title Survey; 300 and 350 Commerce Drive; Prepared for Canton Commerce
Center Associates, LLC; Prepared by Dufour Surveying, LLC; dated 10/22/16

9. Design District #1 Canton Specialty Housing District Graphic: Master Site Plan; Commerce Drive;
Prepared for Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/29/16

10. Design District #1 Canton Specialty Housing District: Building Concept; Commerce Drive; Prepared
for Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/29/16

11. Design District #1 Canton Specialty Housing District: Cover; Commerce Drive; Prepared for Regan
Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/30/16

12. Design District #1 Canton Specialty Housing District: Site Data and Letters of Approval; Commerce
Drive; Prepared for Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/30/16

13. ALTA/NSPS Land Title Survey; 300 and 350 Commerce Drive; Prepared for Canton Commerce
Center Associates, LLC; Prepared by Dufour Surveying, LLC; dated 10/22/16

14. Design District #1 Canton Specialty Housing District: Grading Plan; Commerce Drive; Prepared for
Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/30/16

15. Design District #1 Canton Specialty Housing District: Site Utility Plan; Commerce Drive; Prepared for
Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/29/16

16. Design District #1 Canton Specialty Housing District: Erosion Control Plan; Commerce Drive;
Prepared for Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/30/16

17. Design District #1 Canton Specialty Housing District: Erosion Control Details 1 of 2; Commerce Drive;
Prepared for Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/30/16

18. Design District #1 Canton Specialty Housing District: Erosion Control Details 2 of 2; Commerce Drive;
Prepared for Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/30/16

19. Design District #1 Canton Specialty Housing District: Erosion Control Notes; Commerce Drive;
Prepared for Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/30/16

20. Design District #1 Canton Specialty Housing District: Layout Plan; Commerce Drive; Prepared for
Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/30/16



21. Design District #1 Canton Specialty Housing District: Materials Plan; Commerce Drive; Prepared for
Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/30/16

22. Design District #1 Canton Specialty Housing District: Planting Plan; Commerce Drive; Prepared for
Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/30/16

23. Design District #1 Canton Specialty Housing District: Lighting Plan; Commerce Drive; Prepared for
Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/30/16

24. Design District #1 Canton Specialty Housing District: Fire Truck Turning Plan; Commerce Drive;
Prepared for Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/30/16

25. Design District #1 Canton Specialty Housing District: Details 1 of 2; Commerce Drive; Prepared for
Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/30/16

26. Design District #1 Canton Specialty Housing District: Details 2 of 2; Commerce Drive; Prepared for
Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/30/16

27. Design District #1 Canton Specialty Housing District: Site Utility Details 1 of 2; Commerce Drive;
Prepared for Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/30/16

28. Design District #1 Canton Specialty Housing District: Site Utility Details 2 of 2; Commerce Drive;
Prepared for Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by LADA, P.C.; dated 11/30/16

29. Canton Specialty Housing: Building Floor Plans; 300 and 350 Commerce Drive; Prepared for Regan
Development Corporation; Prepared by K&A Architectural Services, LLC; dated 12/1/16

30. Canton Specialty Housing: Exterior Elevations & Perspective; 300 and 350 Commerce Drive;
Prepared for Regan Development Corporation; Prepared by K&A Architectural Services, LLC; dated
12/1/16

31. Canton Specialty Housing: Dwelling Unit Plans; 300 and 350 Commerce Drive; Prepared for Regan
Development Corporation; Prepared by K&A Architectural Services, LLC; dated 12/1/16

Correspondence:

1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Applications – File #453; Apln #1652; 300 and 350
Commerce Drive; Assessor’s Map 35; Parcels 3330300 and 3330350; Zone Industrial Park District
(IP); Design District Application (Section 5) consisting of: Zoning Regulation Amendment (Section
9.3) request to establish Section 5.8, Design District # 1, Canton Specialty Housing District (CSH);
Zoning Map Amendment (Section 9.4), request from IP to CSH; and Detailed Site Development Plan
Application (Section 9.1); to construct a 40-unit, three-story, multi-family building with +/- 70 parking
spaces and associated site improvements; Phil Doyle, applicant; Canton Commerce Center
Associates, LLC c/o The Casle Corporation, owners

2. Letter of transmittal from LADA, P.C. to Neil Pade; dated 11/30/16
3. Copy of payments; check #’s 12749 & 12750
4. Letter from Phil Doyle of LADA, P.C. to Neil Pade; dated 11/25/16
5. Site Plan application checklist
6. Regulation Amendment application checklist
7. Zone Map Amendment application checklist
8. Letter from David Sessions of Canton Commerce Center Associates, LLC to Neil Pade; dated

11/28/16
9. Letter from Ken Regan of Regan Development Corporation to Neil Pade; dated 11/14/16
10. Narrative on Ken Regan and the Regan Development Corporation
11. Narrative describing the proposed Site Development Plan
12. Narrative describing the zone and conformance to Section 5 of the zoning regulations
13. Narrative describing the proposed zone: DD#1 Canton Specialty Housing District (CSH)
14. Traffic statement
15. Institute of Transportation Engineers Common Trip Generation Rates
16. Fiscal impact statement
17. Estimated real estate tax for the proposed Canton Specialty Housing
18. 2016 real estate tax bill for 300 and 350 Commerce Drive
19. Narrative describing the architectural design concept
20. List of abutters with 100 feet of 300 and 350 Commerce Drive
21. Town of Canton GIS map for 300 and 350 Commerce Drive



22. Custom soil resource report for the State of Connecticut pertaining to 300 and 350 Commerce Drive;
dated 11/8/16

23. Natural Diversity Data Base request from Phil Doyle of LADA, P.C. to the State of Connecticut
Department of Environmental Protection; dated 10/26/16 (11 pages)

24. Letter from the State of Connecticut Department of Environmental Protection to Phil Doyle regarding
the Natural Diversity of Data Base inquiry; dated 11/15/16 (6 pages)

25. Letter from Phil Doyle to Roger Ignazio of the Town of Canton WPCF regarding a capacity review;
dated 10/26/16

26. Town of Canton WPCF capacity review/change of use application
27. Letter from Phil Doyle to Paul Robotham of the Connecticut Water Company regarding a capacity

review; dated 10/27/16 (3 pages)
28. Letter from Paul Robotham to Phil Doyle; dated 11/22/16
29. Storm drainage report; prepared for Canton Commerce Center; prepared by Clark Engineering; dated

11/29/16 (found under separate cover)
30. Certification of notice for posting of Public Hearing sign per Section 9.9.F of Zoning Regulations;

dated 12/1/16
31. Certificates of mailing (2 pages)
32. Abutter notice; received by the Land Use Office on 12/2/16
33. Deeds for 300 and 350 Commerce Drive (found under separate cover)
34. Email from Renee Narducci to town staff regarding plan review; dated 12/6/16
35. Plan review comments from Chief of Police Christopher Arciero; dated 12/7/16
36. Town of Canton legal notice
37. Email from Renee Narducci to Town Clerk Linda Smith regarding notification of the public hearing on

12/21/16; dated 12/8/16
38. Memo from Renee Narducci to Town Clerk Linda Smith regarding notification of the public hearing on

12/21/16, as required per Sections 9.3.B.6 and 9.4.B.6 of the zoning regulations dated 12/8/16
39. Plan review comments from Fire Marshal Tim Tharau; received 12/14/16
40. Turning radius requirements for the Town of Canton Fire Department Ladder Truck
41. Email from Project Administrator George Wallace to Neil Pade regarding plan review comments;

dated 12/14/16
42. Sketch from George Wallace regarding possible shift of parking spaces in order to reduce overall

ground disturbance; received 12/14/16
43. Plan review comments from Building Official Jerry Waters; received 12/14/16
44. Proof of legal notice from the Valley Press
45. Agenda for the 12-21-16 Planning and Zoning Commission meeting
46. Staff memorandum from Neil Pade to the Planning and Zoning Commission regarding plan review

comments; dated 12-14-16
47. Revised email from Project Administrator George Wallace to Neil Pade regarding plan review

comments; dated 12/15/16
48. Plan review comments from the Chief of Fire and EMS Craig Robbins; received 12-15-16
49. Email from Paul Dombrowski of Woodard & Curran, Inc. to Phil Doyle regarding a request for sewer

capacity review; dated 12-16-16
50. Letter from Paul Dombrowksi of Woodard & Curran, Inc. to Phil Doyle providing a response to request

for a sewer capacity review; dated 12-16-16









































































































Exhibits 1-29 have been

provided under separate cover



Standard Zoning Enforcement Procedures



Connecticut General Statutes

� § 8-12 - “Such regulations shall be enforced by the 
officer or official board or authority designated 
therein”

� § 8-3(e) - “The zoning commission shall provide for the 
manner in which the zoning regulations shall be 
enforced.”

� 9.8.A.5 - “The Commission may by resolution adopt 
administrative rules and procedures for the enforcement 
of these regulations.”



Connecticut General Statutes

� § 8-12 - “Procedure when regulations are violated”

� § 8-6 – “Powers and duties of board of appeals”

� To hear and decide appeals where it is alleged that 
there is an error in any order, or decision made by the 
official charged with the enforcement the regulations;

� § 8-7 – “Appeals to board. Hearings.”



Connecticut General Statutes

� § 8-12a – “Establishment of municipal penalties for 
violations of regulations.”

� § 7-152c – “Hearing procedure for citations”

� The hearing procedure for any citation issued pursuant 
to this section shall be in accordance with section 7-
152c except that no zoning enforcement officer, 
building inspector or employee of the municipal body 
exercising zoning authority may be appointed to be a 
hearing officer.



Why have Standard Procedures?

� Push towards standardized office 
procedures

� Citation Ordinance

� Building consistency

� Inconsistency with staff

� Inconsistency with public/ customers

� Inconsistency of Zoning Authority’s 
desire/ message

� Protection of staff



Complaints

� Priority - To be determined by the ZEO

� 1. Immediate danger to the health, safety, and 
community.

� 2. Development projects under construction.

� 3.Proactive enforcement programs.

� 4.Reactive or complaint based enforcement programs. 

� 5. Neighbor and/or civil disputes receive the lowest 
priority.



Procedures

� Complaint

� Property Research

� Site Inspection

� OOV

� Follow Up Inspection

� NOV

� Follow Up Inspection

� Enforcement Order

� Authorized Court Action

� Citations

� Model Letters



Certificates of Zoning Compliance

� Zoning Permits

� Certificates of Zoning Compliance

� Site Plan Modifications

� Section 9.8, Zoning Regulations:

� http://www.townofcantonct.org/filestorage/19178
/19230/ZONING_REGULATION_Effective_5-12-
14_No_Appendix%2C_Revised_8-19-15.pdf



Town of Canton

Standard Zoning Enforcement Procedure Flow Chart

Cease and 

Desist

Notice of 

Violation

Potential 

Violation
No Appeal

Zoning Board of Appeals

If Appealed

If Appealed

Overturned

No Violation

If Upheld

Superior Court

Overturned

No Violation Court Order

If Upheld

Court Order

Court Order



Town of Canton

Standard Zoning Enforcement Procedure Flow Chart

Hearing Officer

Citation 

First Notice

Observation 

Letter

Potential 

Violation
No Appeal

If Appealed

If Appealed

Overturned

No Violation

If Upheld

Superior Court

Overturned

No Violation Court Order

If Upheld

Court Order

Court Order

Collection/ 

Lien

Collection/ 

Lien

Citation 

Second Notice

Fines 

Modified



Town of Canton

Standard Zoning Enforcement Procedure Flow Chart

Hearing 

Officer

Cease and 

Desist

Notice of 

Violation

Potential 

Violation
No Appeal

Zoning Board of Appeals

If Appealed

If Appealed

Overturned

No Violation

If Upheld

Superior Court

Overturned

No Violation Court Order

If Upheld

Citation

Court Order

Court Order Citation

Citation

If Appealed

If Appealed

If Appealed



Examples



Hearing Officer Example –
Harts Corner - Background

� Large retail store, “Petals and Paws”

� Site Plan Modification in 2012 for a 
“small hoop house”

� Approximately 22’ x 24’ 

� No foundation or utilities

� Not more than 9’ high

� Temporary, portable structure  



Hearing Officer Example –
Harts Corner – Background 

� Minor Modification in 2014

� “…to increase size of greenhouse by 576 
square feet”

� Location was noted on new plan, as well 
as size increase

� No other changes were noted



Hearing Officer Example –
Harts Corner - Enforcement

� OOV sent 6/26/15 in response to a 
Commissioner complaint regarding 
unknown construction 

� A tall, wood framed building with a 
steeply pitched roof was being 
constructed (not a hoophouse)

� Applicant stated verbal approvals had 
been given, however no evidence of this. 
Construction continued



Hearing Officer Example –
Harts Corner



Hearing Officer Example –
Harts Corner - Enforcement

� NOV sent 7/22/15

� Foundation was poured, with no 
foundation permit sought out/ issued

� Applicant stated verbal approvals had 
been given, however no evidence of this. 
Construction continued



Hearing Officer Example –
Harts Corner – Enforcement 

� Application was submitted to PZC while 
construction continued (7/24/15)

� Application was later withdrawn.

� Cease and Desist Order was issued 
(8/12/15) 

� Building official submitted a 
memorandum verifying that the 
construction was not consistent with the 
building permit on file



Hearing Officer Example –
Harts Corner



Hearing Officer Example –
Harts Corner – Enforcement 

� Grand opening for new structure was 
advertised for 9/19/15, with no CO

� Citation issued 10/1/15, applicant 
appealed



Hearing Officer Example –
Harts Corner – Appealed Citation

� Hearing Officer used citation process as 
means for compliance.

� Fines continued to accrue as applicant was 
allowed a continuation of appeal to gain 
approval from PZC

� Hearing Officer acknowledged faults 
from both appellant and town

� Application was submitted 10/13/15, 
no fines were issued.



ZBA Example – Canton Springs Road
Background



ZBA Example – Canton Springs Road
Background



ZBA Example – Canton Springs Road
Background

� Zoned industrial; adjacent to residents

� Complaint filed 11/20/15 regarding 
influx in vehicular storage on grass

� File research showed no approvals for 
parking of vehicles on grass

� Most recent plans did not indicate grass to 
be used for storage



ZBA Example – Canton Springs Road
Background



ZBA Example – Canton Springs Road
Enforcement

� OOV issued 1/15/16

� “There appears to be a large amount of 
unapproved vehicular storage in the grass 
south of the approved paved parking lot”

� “You may also provide this office with any 

information that would allow for a 

determination to be made that such 

violation does not exist”

� Information was not brought in, OOV was 
appealed 



ZBA Example – Canton Springs Road
Appeal

� 3/9/16 ZBA meeting

� Appellant argues vehicular storage 
existed in grass prior to zoning

� ZBA requests testimony from family 
member of original business to verify 
parking claim

� Confirmed no zoning approvals for 
parking

� Continued to April 



ZBA Example – Canton Springs Road
Appeal

� 4/11/16 ZBA meeting

� Notarized letter brought in during 
meeting

� Public argues no time to review evidence

� Historic aerials gathered through USGS 
dismissed, argued to be irrelevant with no 
knowledge of time photos were taken and 
days of the week



ZBA Example – Canton Springs Road
Aerials - 1959



ZBA Example – Canton Springs Road
Aerials - 1968



ZBA Example – Canton Springs Road
Aerials - 1991



ZBA Example – Canton Springs Road
Aerials - 2004



ZBA Example – Canton Springs Road
Aerials - 2006



ZBA Example – Canton Springs Road
Aerials - 2008



ZBA Example – Canton Springs Road
Aerials - 2010



ZBA Example – Canton Springs Road
Aerials - 2012



ZBA Example – Canton Springs Road
Appellant Evidence 



ZBA Example – Canton Springs Road
Appellant Evidence 



ZBA Example – Canton Springs Road
Appeal

� 4/11/16

� No extension granted, though public 
requested it

� OOV is overturned 



ZBA Example – Canton Springs Road
Appeal

MOTION: Mr. Brainard moved that the appeal for File 
#2016-1; 20 Canton Springs Road; Kings Highway 
Associates, LLC be upheld.  The information provided by the 
applicant in the form of a notarized letter from Mr. Ernest 
Smith dated March 30, 2016 is the only evidence provided 
in the affirmative that parking of five or more vehicles 
occurred at 20 Canton Springs Road prior to the 1958 
zoning regulations.  No contradictory evidence pertaining to 
the use was presented.  Parking of more than five vehicles 
may occur anywhere on the property with the exception of 
the area for File #288, Application #1275 as depicted on 
the map labeled Sheet L-3; Layout and Materials Plan; 20 
Canton Springs Road; Prepared by LADA, PC; Prepared for 
AA Automatic & Brake; dated 1/12/10; revised 3/31/10 
which may have restricted parking on it.



ZBA Example – Canton Springs Road
Appeal

� ZBA motion is not appealed

� ZEO’s role with property has ended, 
because of SZEP’s



QUESTIONS?

Standard Zoning Enforcement Procedures



 

   
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
Regular Meeting  

 Canton Planning and Zoning Commission 
Wednesday, September 21, 2016 at 7:30 pm 

Community Center, Room F 
40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, CT 

 
CALL TO ORDER: The Regular Meeting of Canton Planning & Zoning Commission on September 21, 
2016 was called to order at 7:30 p.m. 
 
PRESENT: Jonathan Thiesse, John Huyghebaert, Phil Pane and Lansford Perry  
ABSENT: Bill Sarmuk, David Evens, Kevin Baldwin and Ryan O’Donnell 
ALSO PRESENT: Town Planner Neil Pade and Land Use Coordinator Renee Narducci 
 
A quorum of the Commission is present. 
 
MODIFICATION OF AGENDA: None 
 
OLD BUSINESS: None  
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
1. Pre-Application Review; File #405; Apln #1629; 361 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 30; 

Parcel 1010361; Zone B; discussion of development concepts for multi-family rental 
apartments; Arthur Godbout, applicant; Canton Commercial Properties, LLC, owner – N. Pade 
provided an overview of the pre-application process and stated how no formal decisions are made by 
the Commission. Arthur Godbout, the managing member of Canton Commercial Properties, LLC, was 
present to discuss the application. Mr. Godbout provided an overview of the property, as well as the 
various site pad approvals that currently exist in town at other properties owned by Canton 
Commercial Properties, LLC.  
 
After talking with consultants and brokers, along with extensive market research, it was determined 
that there might be a market for an upscale apartment project in Canton. Mr. Godbout stated that 
there is currently no sewer or water onsite, but he has been working with the WPCA, CT Water and 
CT Natural Gas over the past year to explore potential connections. Greg Brown from Brown Land 
Planning was hired for the proposed design and Thomas Shannon was hired as the engineer. Mr. 
Godbout stated that he is seeking site pad approval at this time, so that he can go to market to see if 
there is a demand for this type of development. The proposed concept has 144 units, 36 units in each 
building and approximately 200 parking spaces. The structures are close to the road in keeping with 
the Form-Based Code and allow for an adequate buffer between the apartments and abutting 
property owners to the north.  
 
Access to the site is proposed at the western entrance on Route 44 due to better site-lines and a pre-
existing curb-cut. N. Pade provided additional background on the property, as well as previously 
proposed concepts for the site, and stated how the concept of site pad approvals have not been done 
within a Design District. Guidance is requested from the Commission regarding site pad approvals 
and how they fit into the Form-Based Code. J. Thiesse informed the applicant that the only surety 
available is through a Design District approval. Design Districts are necessary for proposed 
developments that do not comply with current Zoning Regulations. Overall, the Commission appeared 
to have a positive reaction to the proposed concept and informed the applicant that he could either 
submit a Design District application or wait for the Form-Based Code to become effective, which 
wouldn’t be for another 6 to 9 months.         



OTHER BUSINESS:  
 
1. Review minutes from the July 20, 2016 Regular Meeting and August 17, 2016 Special Meeting – 

The minutes from July 20, 2016 were approved as amended, and the minutes from the August 17, 
2016 Special Meeting were approved as presented. 
 

2. Discussion of Possible Edits to Zoning Regulations 
a. Review of draft language pertaining to Electronic Message Board Signs – N. Pade provided 

an overview of where things currently stand, and J. Huyghebaert provided additional information 
to the Commission electronically prior to the meeting. L. Perry proposed the idea of scheduling 
special meetings in order to hold workshops for the purpose of working through the development 
of these regulations. P. Pane informed the Commission of his conversations with various sign 
companies and although the signs have many abilities, that does not mean the Commission 
cannot limit the options used. J. Thiesse expressed his thoughts and feels that this use of 
signage can be controlled through rate of change, limitations on animation and intensity of color, 
etc. He further stated that before utilizing various models for our own regulations, the Commission 
needs to determine what they are aiming for. It was suggested that if an electronic message 
board sign is part of larger sign, then a percentage would be used to determine its size, while 
freestanding signs would adhere to current message board regulations. J. Thiesse stated that he 
will communicate with the Assistant Town Planner in order to work on a draft for the next meeting.  
   

b. Review of edits to Design Review – N. Pade provided an overview of the proposed edits and 
informed the Commission that a public hearing will be scheduled in the following months. 

  
c. Review of edits to Mixed Residential Accessory Uses – N. Pade provided an overview of the 

proposed edits and informed the Commission that a public hearing will be scheduled in the 
following months. 
 

d. Review of edits to Design District; Section 5.1.C;  Additional Documentation/Submission 
Criteria – N. Pade provided an overview of the proposed edits and informed the Commission that 
a public hearing will be scheduled in the following months. 

 
3. Discussion of Design Regulations – N. Pade informed the Commission that edits are currently 

being made and J. Thiesse advised everyone that the section regarding parking regulations still 
needs to be corrected. N. Pade stated that it’s a matter of changing the calculations, rather than re-
writing the narrative.  
 

4. Discussion of Subdivision Regulations Rewrite 
a. Distribution of draft for Commission review – After a brief overview by N. Pade, L. Perry and 

J. Thiesse stated that they will read through the document and send all comments back to Neil. 
Upon receipt of the proposed changes, Neil will create a revised draft for distribution prior to 
acceptance. The Department of Public Works is currently finalizing comments and edits to the 
Public Improvement Standards. 
 

b. Policy for processing lot line revisions pertaining to conforming parcels – N. Pade informed 
the Commission that, per past legal guidance, all modifications to an approved subdivision go 
before the Commission for review. Lately, the majority of owners appear to be consolidating 
parcels that conform to zoning and Town Staff is seeking permission from the Commission to 
review these requests administratively. J. Thiesse expressed his thoughts and also wondered 
why the Commission reviewed lot-line revisions. He suggested giving N. Pade the authority to 
administratively handle lot-line revisions and adjustments that result in conforming lots. If the 
proposed activity is questionable, then the application will be brought before the Commission for 
review. It was suggested that a memorandum outlining the proposed policy be provided for 
review and possible action at the next regular meeting. 

 



5. Discussion of possible update to the Standard Zoning Enforcement Procedures – N. Pade 
distributed an updated version of the SZEPs prior to the meeting, which included J. Thiesse’s 
proposed changes. J. Thiesse provided an overview of his proposed edits, which included softening 
some language, defining terms, additional language to provide further explanation where necessary, 
and more.  
 
MOTION: J. Huyghebaert moved to adopt the Standard Zoning Enforcement Procedures as 
presented on September 21, 2016. J. Thiesse seconded the motion, which passed unanimously 4-0-
0. 
 

6. Discussion of possible minor modifications to the existing Collinsville Streetscape in the 
areas of 74 Main Street and 37 Bridge Street, as it pertains to the CHDC – N. Pade provided an 
overview of the proposed work, which does not fall within the Collinsville Historic District and will be 
handled by the Assistant Town Planner as a minor site plan modification. 

 
7. Discussion of lighting at the Canton High School Track – N. Pade informed the Commission that 

an application has been submitted by the Board of Education, and it was not placed on the agenda as 
it was submitted less than 10 days prior to tonight’s meeting. Statutorily, the official receipt date is this 
evening and the scheduling of a special meeting is requested as the lighting consultant is unable to 
attend the next regular meeting on October 19, 2016. The Board of Education is currently reaching 
out to the adjacent neighborhood and working on list of proposed events. If a quorum is not 
achievable for November 2, 2016, then the application will be placed on the November 16, 2016 
regular meeting agenda.   

 
8. Discussion of potential Vice Chairman, and possible nominations and vote – L. Perry stated 

that he would take the position if no one else was interested. 
 
MOTION: J. Huyghebaert moved to appoint Lansford Perry as Vice Chairman of the Planning and 
Zoning Commission. J. Thiesse seconded the motion, which passed unanimously 4-0-0. 

 
9. Discussion of Streetscape Grant – N. Pade informed the Commission that the acceptance of the 

grant was approved at a Town Meeting, and town staff is attempting to contact/obtain contact 
information for the assigned Project Manager at DOT. There is currently no contract to proceed under 
the grant. 

 
10. Discussion of process for updating the 2014 Plan of Conservation and Development – N. Pade 

provided an overview of where things stand with the POCD and informed the Commission that the 
Board of Selectmen is requesting a process for reviewing, collecting and recommending potential 
edits, updates, etc. Neil would like to provide a memo to the Board of Selectmen regarding guidance 
from the Commission. J. Thiesse suggested having a liaison from the Commission for the Plan 
Implementation Committee (PIC). The Commission recommends that the PIC be the lead agency for 
the collection of edits, but a liaison from the Commission review/oversee their incorporation into the 
document.  
 

11. Staff Reports: 
a. Town Planner’s Report – N. Pade informed the Commission that FAVARH has put out an RFP 

for a proposed facility in the Commerce Drive Industrial Park, and they are moving forward with a 
Design District application. Neil is also working with the property owners of 3 and 5 Cherry Brook 
Road regarding possible development concepts, and a Design District application could be in the 
works. The Commission was also informed of the proposed parking lot improvements at 534 
Cherry Brook Road, also known as the Grange. Based on the scope of work, a minor site plan 
modification and IWWA Authorized Agent application are required.  
 

b. ZEO Report – The monthly report was distributed electronically prior to the start of the meeting 
and N. Pade informed the Commission that the Assistant Town Planner is currently drafting 
regulations pertaining to shipping containers.  



ADJOURNMENT: 
 
MOTION: Mr. Perry moved to adjourn the meeting at 9:22 p.m. Mr. Pane seconded the motion, which 
passed unanimously 4-0-0.  
 



 

   
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
Special Meeting  

 Canton Planning and Zoning Commission 
Wednesday, November 2, 2016 at 7:30 pm 

Community Center, Room B 
40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, CT 

 
CALL TO ORDER: The Special Meeting of Canton Planning & Zoning Commission on November 2, 2016 
was called to order at 7:30 p.m. 
 
PRESENT: Jonathan Thiesse, John Huyghebaert, Phil Pane, David Evens, Kevin Baldwin and Lansford Perry  
ABSENT: Bill Sarmuk and Ryan O’Donnell 
ALSO PRESENT: Town Planner Neil Pade and Land Use Coordinator Renee Narducci 
 
A quorum of the Commission is present. 

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
READING OF THE LEGAL NOTICE: Read by Mr. Pane. 

 
1. File #336; Apln #1628; 72 and 76 Simonds Avenue; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcels 4820072 and 

4820076; Zone MCPF; Special Permits, Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement of special permit 
standards; Section 7.4.D.3.F, lighting necessary for special outdoor events and playing fields; 
and Site Plan Modification, Section 9.1; request to install four new light poles for illumination 
of the track and field; Dwight Carlson, applicant; Town of Canton, owner 
 
COMMISSIONERS SEATED: Jonathan Thiesse, John Huyghebaert, Phil Pane, David Evens, Kevin 
Baldwin and Lansford Perry  
 
Mr. Dwight Carlson was present to discuss the application and answer any questions the Commission 
had. The original application called for two, 80-foot poles and two, 90-foot poles; however, the 
applicant is now looking into an LED option that would allow for four, 80-foot poles due to a better 
photometric beam pattern. When the application was submitted, HID lighting was the most attractive 
option; however, LED lighting offers a dimming package and better control of lighting. An 1150W LED 
Luminaries sheet was provided to the Commissioners during the public hearing by Mr. Carlson; 
however, a full photometric survey depicting the revised lighting option was not readily available. 
Each light pole would consist of 10 fixtures, each with 228 diodes and one bulb on each fixture would 
face upwards in order to provide up-lighting. Mr. Carlson brought a sample of the light fixture to the 
meeting so the Commission and public would have a better understanding of what was being 
recommended.  
 
Mr. Mike Mahoney of Musco Lighting was also present to provide further insight on the lights, as well as 
company background. Musco Lighting has over 40 years’ experience in sports field lighting and 
specializes in the ability to control light. Mr. Carlson informed the Commission that they are looking to 
schedule games with an end-time at 10:00 p.m.; however, not to exceed past 11:30 p.m. Mr. Kevin Case, 
Superintendent of Canton Public Schools, stated that the lights will be set to shut off automatically at 
10:00 p.m., unless a game runs into overtime or there is a charity event; i.e., 24-hour walkathon. Mr. 
Carlson also discussed the proposed changes to the sound system, which aim to reduce noise levels and 
direct sound away from abutting residential properties. The facilities will be maintained by the Board of 
Education, and the lighting system has a 25-year warranty with no maintenance fee during this period.  



Mr. Mahoney explained how the lighting is controlled and monitored by the company, and any 
modifications require user authorization. Mr. Case informed the Commission that there will be an Event 
Supervisor at every scheduled event. Mr. Pade provided background on the approval of the track and 
how the potential for future lighting was discussed when the application came before the Commission. He 
also reviewed the zoning regulations and special permit requirements/standards pertaining to the 
application.  
 
Todd Follert of 90 Simonds Avenue, Canton, stated his concerns regarding the maintenance of the 
lighting, the scheduling of games, the future for potential alterations at other fields in town, and current 
noise levels. 
 
Chris Weller, Varsity Coach for the Canton High School, spoke in favor of the lights and expressed 
concerns regarding current scheduling conflicts and how the proposed lighting would allow for extended 
hours of operation. 
 
Victoria Scranton of 63 Dyer Avenue, Canton, stated that she is less concerned with light spill over and 
more worried about the physical placement of the light poles. She expressed concern regarding current 
noise levels and the potential for events to occur every weekend during the school year. 
 
Andrew Edwards of 61 Dyer Avenue, Canton, expressed his concerns regarding the increased number of 
events. 
 
Greg Skinner, President of the Canton Athletic Booster Club, stated that funding for the lights will be 
provided by a subcommittee of the Booster Club, known as Lights on Canton. He expressed the desire to 
establish a usage agreement for the field, which would allow for common procedures to be utilized by 
everyone.  
 
Kennedy Mitchell (address not stated), spoke in favor of the lights and how it would be nice for the town 
to host home events for the traveling soccer team. 
 
Avery Brown (address not stated), spoke in favor of the lights. 
 
Devon Brown (address not stated), spoke in favor of the lights. 
 
Lauren Marci (address not stated), spoke in favor of the lights. 
 
Karen Marci (address not stated), spoke in favor of the lights and the increased usability of the field that 
would occur if approved. 
 
Jonathan Webb of 26 Sunrise Drive, Canton, spoke in favor of the lights and stated his experience 
serving on the Board of Education’s CIP Field Study Committee. 
 
Emily Mitchell (address not stated), spoke in favor of the lights and stated how the generators for the 
temporary lighting are a nuisance and attendance for current games is poor due to the early start times. 

 

Ashley Potter (address not stated), spoke in favor of the lights.  
 

Abby Skinner (address not stated), spoke in favor of the lights and how they would allow for better more 
flexibility in terms of scheduling. 
 
Nathan Fuller (address not state), stated the need for a good working relationship between the Board of 
Education, the community and the athletic groups. 
 
Peter Vanschaack of 81 Simonds Avenue, Canton, stated his concerns regarding the hours in which the 
lights would be operational and had questions regarding the survey that was conducted in 2013 as a 
result of the approved temporary lighting for the field.  



Drew DiPippo, Principal of the Canton High School, spoke in favor of the lights and stated that most 
athletic events typically begin between 6:00 p.m. and 7:00 p.m., ending between 8:00 p.m. and 9:00 p.m.  
 
Mr. Pane suggested the idea of utilizing a balloon so the Commission and abutting property owners could 
visualize the height in which the lights will stand. Mr. Perry and Mr. Thiesse felt that a balloon would not 
provide any additional benefit. Mr. Pane, Mr. Huyghebaert and Mr. Baldwin agreed that the application 
should submit of a photometric survey that depicts property lines, and it should be collected prior to 
making a decision. Mr. Evens stated that there needs to be some limitations, as well as standards that 
everyone can follow. After some deliberation, it was determined that the applicant needs to be submit a 
revised photometric survey and a narrative that outlines the proposed number of events and affiliated 
timing. 
 

MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved to continue the public hearing for File #336; Apln #1628 to the next 
regular meeting on November 16, 2016 at 7:30 p.m. in Room F of the Community Center. Mr. 
Baldwin seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 

 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
PUBLIC HEARING ACTIONS: 
 
1. File #336; Apln #1628; 72 and 76 Simonds Avenue; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcels 4820072 and 

4820076; Zone MCPF; Special Permits, Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement of special permit 
standards; Section 7.4.D.3.F, lighting necessary for special outdoor events and playing fields; 
and Site Plan Modification, Section 9.1; request to install four new light poles for illumination 
of the track and field; Dwight Carlson, applicant; Town of Canton, owner – No action was taken. 

 
OLD BUSINESS: None  
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
1. File #524; Shallot Meadow Subdivision; Road Acceptance Request; Gervais Jouvin, applicant; 

Family Home Builders, LLC, owner – Mr. Pade reviewed the latest staff report regarding the road 
acceptance request made by Mr. David Whitney on behalf of Family Home Builders, LLC. The formal 
action of accepting a road is made by the Board of Selectmen (BOS) once a recommendation is 
provided by the Planning Commission under CGS 8-24. Historically, the town uses this process to 
review the road acceptance request with the Planning Commission as a means to make sure all items 
have been met before going to the BOS. The former Town Engineer had developed an in-depth 
checklist, which has been applied to this request and submitted to the Commission in the form of a 
staff report. The criteria necessary for a road acceptance request is outlined in Section 621 of the 
Subdivision Regulations and the staff report outlines 21 different items, which Mr. Pade explained in 
depth.  
 
The Town Attorney has reviewed the drainage easements and the town has received a letter from Mr. 
and Mrs. Olson, dated October 25, 2016, stating concerns about the objection to flow and drainage 
onto their property, in which an excerpt has been included as part of the meeting packet. Mr. Thiesse 
went on to explain how the Commission receives and handles unsolicited input regarding an 
administrative function of the Commission where no Public Hearing is held. He stated that, in general, 
unsolicited input and testimony not from a town agency or staff, or from some other governmental or 
similar type agency, in regards to site plans or other administrative deliberations of the Commission in 
absence of a public hearing should not be accepted or considered by the Commission as a matter of 
appearance of fairness. Mr. Thiesse further discussed the exceptions to this standards and the 
determination of relevance to deliberation. The first letter received by the Olson’s dealt more with 
history; however, the last paragraph on the second page appeared relevant to the Commission’s 
deliberation on the matter.  
 
 



Mr. Thiesse made a point to distinguish between the original subdivision approval and the road 
acceptance request. Based on review by the Town Attorney, the proper drainage rights are in place 
and with respect to drainage on adjacent properties, the rights are in place and even if they are not, 
there is an arrangement with the developer to protect the town. Mr. Thiesse clarified that the 
Commission is not here to take action but to provide a report to the BOS on road acceptance, and in 
his opinion, what was received by the Town Attorney suffices for road acceptance. It was stated that 
the secondary letter to the Commission provided by Mr. and Mrs. Olson does not provide any new 
information that would change the opinion provided by the Town Attorney. Mr. Huyghebaert stated 
that the legal opinion provided by the Town Attorney has satisfied the town’s process for reviewing 
the road acceptance request, and Mr. Thiesse and Mr. Perry agreed.  
 
MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved that for Subdivision File #524, Shallot Meadow Road, the Commission, 
based upon the recommendation of their Engineer and the November 2, 2016 recommendation of the 
Town Attorney, that the requirements for road acceptance have been successfully accomplished by 
Family Home Builders LLC, the Commission herby submits a favorable a report, in accordance with 
Section 621 of the subdivision regulation (SR) and Connecticut General Statutes 8-24, to the Board of 
Selectman (BOS) recommending acceptance of the roadway and other associated public 
improvements. A residual security required by SR 621.1 and 614.1 in the amount of $78,116 shall be 
retained for one year from the date of acceptance of the public improvements by the BOS in a form 
acceptable to the Town. Additional security associated with the acceptance of the road inclusive of an 
indemnification of the Town with respect to any drainage dispute shall be provided in accordance with 
the recommendation of the Town Attorney. Mr. Evens seconded the motion, which passed 
unanimously 6-0-0. 

 
OTHER BUSINESS: None 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
MOTION: Mr. Perry moved to adjourn the meeting at 9:55 p.m. Mr. Huyghebaert seconded the motion, 
which passed unanimously 6-0-0.  
 



 

   
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES  
Regular Meeting  

 Canton Planning and Zoning Commission 
Wednesday, November 16, 2016 at 7:30 pm 

Community Center, Room F 
40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, CT 

 
CALL TO ORDER: The Regular Meeting of Canton Planning & Zoning Commission on November 16, 
2016 was called to order at 7:30 p.m. 
 
PRESENT: Jonathan Thiesse, John Huyghebaert, Phil Pane and Lansford Perry  
ABSENT: Bill Sarmuk, David Evens, Kevin Baldwin and Ryan O’Donnell 
ALSO PRESENT: Town Planner Neil Pade and Land Use Coordinator Renee Narducci 
 
A quorum of the Commission is present. 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

READING OF THE LEGAL NOTICE: The legal notice was read at the November 2, 2016 Special 
Meeting by Mr. Pane. 

 
1. File #336; Apln #1628; 72 and 76 Simonds Avenue; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcels 4820072 and 

4820076; Zone MCPF; Special Permits, Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement of special permit 
standards; Section 7.4.D.3.F, lighting necessary for special outdoor events and playing fields; 
and Site Plan Modification, Section 9.1; request to install four new light poles for illumination 
of the track and field; Dwight Carlson, applicant; Town of Canton, owner 

 
COMMISSIONERS SEATED: Jonathan Thiesse, John Huyghebaert, Phil Pane and Lansford Perry 
 
Mr. Dwight Carlson was present to discuss the application and answer any questions the Commission 
had. Mr. Pade provided an overview of what was received since the last meeting, which included 
numerous emails, a revised photometric survey, a proposed usage agreement and information 
regarding the Town of Farmington’s field lighting. Mr. Carlson explained that the revised photometric 
survey depicts the exact location of the proposed lighting and represents zero foot-candles at the 
property lines. The proposed user agreement includes 25 events, which Mr. Carlson reviewed with 
the Commission, and offers the utilization of walking lights for public use and does not permit 
amplified sound at practices. The walking lights will run at a reduced level (around 15%) and will not 
turn on unless someone is present to push a button. In terms of noise, the sound system has been 
amplified more than normal due to the loudness of the generators utilized for temporary lighting. The 
Commission was pleased to see zero foot-candles at the property lines and felt it would be easier to 
regulate when games began, rather than when they end. Mr. Pade expressed concern for how the 
Land Use Office will monitor complaints and determine whether an event is concerned a game, 
practice or a charity event. Mr. Perry recommended approving the application with a provision to 
revisit the matter in two years in order to see where things stand and if modifications are necessary.  
 
Christina Mitchell of 14 Noja Trail provided background on the number of games that are typically 
held for each sport at the school, and stated that it is not standard practice to have sound at soccer, 
field hockey or lacrosse games. She also noted that it is common practice to schedule games back-
to-back during the week rather than on the weekends.  
 



David Hudon of 48 Gildersleeve Avenue had questions regarding the creation of the proposed user 
agreement and whether or not abutting property owners were included in the process. He stated his 
concerns regarding the number of games to be held each week and asked whether or not the 
proposed lighting was dark-sky compliant.  
 
Todd Follert of 90 Simonds Avenue informed the Commission of previous issues that he had with the 
noise generated by the Little League and is concerned that existing noise levels will only get worse. 
 
Cheryl Follert of 90 Simonds Avenue expressed the need for a point of contact regarding the school 
track and a contact number that can be utilized if a problem arises. 
 
Abby Skinner of 10 Highfields Drive spoke in favor of the lights and stated how it will allow for better 
scheduling and utilization of the field. 
 
Ronald Dymicki of 5 Sugar Camp Road stated his concerns regarding the proposed user agreement 
and expressed the need for better management and monitoring of games, as well as the shut off 
times for the lights. 
 
Greg Skinner of 10 Highfields Drive spoke in favor of the lights and encourages the community to get 
involved.  
 
Emily Mitchell of 14 Noja Trail spoke in favor of the lights and stated how it will allow for better 
scheduling and utilization of the field. 
 
Justin Ludwig of 80 Simonds Avenue expressed his concern regarding the noise and liked the idea of 
permitting games at different times during the week, versus on the weekends. 
 
McCauley of 25 Greystone expressed her concerns regarding the scheduling conflicts that currently 
exist due the lack of lighting. 
 
Victoria Scranton of 63 Dyer Avenue expressed her concerns regarding potential noise issues and 
ensuring an equal opportunity for all youth sports. She would like to see open field time incorporated 
into the user agreement, so that children not involved in organized sports could still utilize the field, as 
there is already a field shortage in town.  
 
Mr. Pade reviewed the 2013 approval, which included 28 conditions and noted how the proposed 
lighting will be dark-sky compliant. He discussed how a special exception was built into the current 
regulations to allow for athletic field lighting by approval of the commission, and how the commission 
can only regulate the number of events and time frames in which the lights are operational. Mr. Perry 
suggested that the commission present a draft motion before closing the public hearing so the public 
could have the chance to comment. Mr. Carlson supported the idea of having a point of contact for 
any concerns, as well as opening up the field to non-organized school sports. The commission 
discussed at length potential conditions and modifications to the proposed user agreement.  
 
MOTION: Mr. Pane moved to close the public hearing for File #336; Apln #1628. Mr. Huyghebaert 
seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 

 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
PUBLIC HEARING ACTIONS: 
 
1. File #336; Apln #1628; 72 and 76 Simonds Avenue; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcels 4820072 and 

4820076; Zone MCPF; Special Permits, Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement of special permit 
standards; Section 7.4.D.3.F, lighting necessary for special outdoor events and playing fields; 
and Site Plan Modification, Section 9.1; request to install four new light poles for illumination 
of the track and field; Dwight Carlson, applicant; Town of Canton, owner 



MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved to APPROVE File #336; Apln #1628; 72 and 76 Simonds Avenue; 
Assessor’s Map 30; Parcels 4820072 and 4820076; Zone MCPF; Special Permits, Section 6.4.E.10, 
enlargement of special permit standards; Section 7.4.D.3.F, lighting necessary for special outdoor 
events and playing fields; and Site Plan Modification, Section 9.1; request to install four new light 
poles for illumination of the track and field; Dwight Carlson, applicant; Town of Canton, owner. 

 
This approval is granted in part on the application submitted on September 14, 2016, testimony 
received at a public hearing commenced on November 2, 2016, continued to November 16, 2016 and 
closed on that date; and upon the following documentation submitted by the Applicant or others 
during the course of the proceedings on the application: 

 
Drawings: 

 
1. Sheet 1; Illumination Summary; Canton, CT; Prepared for Canton High School Turf Field; 

Prepared by Musco Lighting; dated November 9, 2016 
 
Correspondence: 

 
1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #336; Apln #1628; 72 and 76 

Simonds Avenue; Assessor’s Map 30; Parcels 4820072 and 4820076; Zone MCPF; Special 
Permits, Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement of special permit standards; Section 7.4.D.3.F, lighting 
necessary for special outdoor events and playing fields; and Site Plan Modification, Section 9.1; 
request to install four new light poles for illumination of the track and field; Dwight Carlson, 
applicant; Town of Canton, owner 

2. Zoning Approval for File #336; Apln #1393; dated March 18, 2013 
3. Zoning Approval for File #336; Apln #1421; dated September 24, 2013 
4. Zoning Approval for File #336; Apln #1464; dated October 1, 2014 
5. Town of Canton GIS Map for 72 and 76 Simonds Avenue 
6. Narrative describing the proposed lighting 
7. Musco Lighting pole specifications sheet (2 pages) 
8. Musco Lighting illumination summary (2 pages) 
9. Musco Lighting equipment layout 
10. Abutter notice; dated 10/6/16 
11. Letter from Patricia Goodwin of 552 Cherry Brook Road; received 10/4/16 
12. Certification of Notice for posting of public hearing sign per Section 9.9.F of Zoning Regulations; 

dated 10/6/16 
13. Valley Press legal notice; dated 10/12/16 
14. Letter from Canton Public Schools to the Town of Canton regarding the proposed track and field 

lighting; received 10/12/16 
15. Email of support from Kim Kulik to Neil Pade; dated 10/13/16 
16. Proof of legal notice publication from Barbara Ouellette at the Valley Press; dated 10/17/16 
17. Email of support from Beth Griffin to Neil Pade; dated 10/15/16 
18. Certified mail receipts from abutter notices; dated 10/17/16 
19. Email of support from John Koster to Neil Pade; dated 10/18/16 
20. Email of support from Mark Schuman to Neil Pade; dated 10/18/16 
21. Email of support from Jennifer Underkoffler to Neil Pade; dated 10/18/16 
22. Email of support from Rebecca Andrews to Neil Pade; dated 10/18/16 
23. Email of support from Tiffany Davis to Neil Pade; dated 10/18/16 
24. Email of support from Amy Yanke to Neil Pade; dated 10/18/16 
25. Email of support from Amy Brown to Neil Pade; dated 10/18/16 
26. Email of support from Hailey Miller to Neil Pade; dated 10/18/16 
27. Town of Canton receipt of abutter notification; received 10/18/16 
28. Email of support from Linda Quattro to Neil Pade; dated 10/20/16 
29. Email of support from Andrew Lefave to Neil Pade; dated 10/20/16 
30. Email of support from Shane Toland to Neil Pade; dated 10/21/16 
31. Certified mail green cards; received 10/25/16 



32. Photometric survey 
33. Email of support from Kathy Wood to Neil Pade; dated 10/26/16 
34. Agenda for the 11-02-16 Special Meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission 
35. Staff memorandum from Neil Pade to the Planning and Zoning Commission; dated 10/26/16 
36. Notification of public hearing room relocation 
37. Email of support from Amanda Mainville to Neil Pade; dated 10/27/16 
38. Email of support from Carol Coutant to Neil Pade; dated 10/31/16 
39. LED photometric survey; received 10/31/16 
40. Revised narrative depicting HID versus LED luminaire option; received 11/1/16 
41. Image of multipurpose facility lighting at New Milford High School by Musco Lighting; received 

11/2/16 
42. Email of support from Charlotte LaCombe to Neil Pade; dated 11/2/16 
43. Email of support from Michele Matthes to Neil Pade; dated 11/2/16 
44. Email of support from Lisa Campbell to Neil Pade; dated 11/2/16 
45. Email of support from Michelle Winkler to Neil Pade; dated 11/3/16 
46. Email of support from Christina Mitchell to Neil Pade; dated 11/3/16 
47. Email of support from Ruth Pinto to Neil Pade; dated 11/2/16 
48. Email of support from Jessica Giblin to Neil Pade; dated 11/3/16 
49. Email of support from Carol Coutant to Neil Pade; dated 11/9/16 
50. Draft minutes from the 11/02/16 Special Meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission 
51. Email from Victoria Scranton to Neil Pade regarding the Town of Farmington’s track and field 

lighting; dated 11/16/16 
52. Email from Susan McDonald, Executive Assistant for the Superintendent of Canton Public 

Schools, to Neil Pade regarding the proposed usage agreement for the track and field; dated 
11/16/16 

53. Canton Public Schools’ proposed track and field Usage Agreement; dated 11/09/16; revised 
11/10/16 

54. Email from Neil Pade to William Warner, Town Planner for the Town of Farmington; dated 
11/16/16 

55. Email from Sandra Michaud, Town of Farmington Land Use Coordinator, to Neil Pade; dated 
11/16/16 

56. Town of Farmington Plan and Zoning Commission meeting minutes; dated 07/08/02 
57. Town of Farmington Plan and Zoning Commission meeting minutes; dated 03/14/11 
58. Memo from Kathleen Greider, Superintendent of Farmington Public Schools, to Bill Warner, Town 

Planner for the Town of Farmington, regarding turf field lighting; dated 06/10/15 
59. Letter from Bill Silva, Principal of Farmington Public Schools, to Sandra Michaud, Town of 

Farmington Land Use Coordinator, regarding turf field lighting; dated 07/15/15 
60. Town of Farmington Planning and Zoning Commission meeting minutes; dated 07/27/15 
61. Letter from Donald Doeg, Town of Farmington Plan and Zoning Commission, to Kathleen 

Greider, Superintendent of Farmington Public Schools, regarding turf field lighting; dated 
08/05/15 
 

This approval with conditions and modifications is granted because the Commission finds that the 
application, as conditioned and modified by and inclusive of the stipulations of this approval, would 
comply with the following: 

 
1. Section 9.2.E – Special Permit Criteria 
2. Section 7.4 – Standards for Outdoor Lighting  
3. Section 7.4.D.3.F – Lighting necessary for special outdoor events and playing fields  
4. Section 9.1.A.1 - Site Plan Modifications 
5. Section 8.2 – Performance Standards 
6. Section 6.4.E.10 – Enlargement of a Special Permit Use 

 
This approval is effective December 6, 2016 (20 Days from approval date) and UPON THE 
RECORDING OF AN APPROVAL LETTER/CERTIFICATE OF ACTION WITH THE TOWN CLERK.  

 



The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications, 
restrictions, and safeguards: 
 
1. The following stipulations are necessary to ensure compliance with the special permit criteria of 

Section 9.2.E: 
a. Walking lights shall be permitted from 5 AM through dawn, and from dusk to 8:30 PM at 15% 

of full power (no greater than 7 foot candles on the track surface) on a user activated button 
operational only at that time. 

b. Up to 25 games shall be allowed to be held under the lights. 
c. Football games held on a Friday night shall have a scheduled start time of no later than 7 PM. 
d. Non-football games held on a Friday night shall have a scheduled start time of no later than 8 

PM. 
e. Other nights of the week any game shall have a scheduled start time no later than 7 PM. 
f. One week a year scheduled games that week shall be allowed starting no later than 8 PM. 
g. No games or practices shall be allowed under the lights on Sundays. 
h. Lights shall be turned off ½ hour from the conclusion of the game. 
i. Practices under the lights shall conclude by 8:15 PM with lights turned off by 8:30 PM. 
j. Up to two special events (in addition to the 25 games allowed under b) shall be allowed to 

conclude by 9:30 PM with lights turned off by 10 PM.  
k. Amplified sound for games under the lights, including but not limited to pre-game music and 

National Anthem, is permitted prior to the start of the game. 
l. Amplified sound for games under the lights may be used for mid or post event for senior 

ceremonies or pertinent score announcing. 
m. Use of amplified sound shall cease at the completion of the game. 
n. No more than 10 games under the lights are allowed “play by play” amplified sound. 
o. Amplified sound under the lights is not allowed at practices of any kind. 
p. The conditions of the March 2013 approval of the facility are incorporated by reference. 
q. The use of amplified sound under the lights shall expire at the conclusion of 30 months, 

operation from the date of completed installation unless the applicant submits an application 
at that time (or sooner) for a public hearing to evaluate the conditions pertaining to use of 
amplified sound under the lights. The Commission may modify such conditions based on 
input and observations at that time. 

r. Under any circumstance in which play is extended due to inclement weather or unexpected 
suspension of play, lights shall be turned off no later than 10:30 PM on weekdays and 11 PM 
on weekends. 

s. Photo metrics at the property lines shall be field verified by the ZEO and adjustments made if 
necessary prior to the commencement of operation of the lights. 

2. Any enlargement or expansion shall require a modification of this approval by the Commission. 
3. This approval is binding upon the applicant / developer, heirs, assigns, and grantees. This 

approval constitutes a contractual agreement between the Town of Canton and the applicant, 
heirs, assigns and grantees. 

4. In evaluating this application the Town of Canton has relied on information provided by the 
Applicant or his/her agent. 
  

SECONDED: By Mr. Pane. 
VOTE: Passed unanimously. 
 
OLD BUSINESS: None 
 
NEW BUSINESS: None 
 



OTHER BUSINESS:  
 
1. File #434; 708 Cherry Brook Road; Assessor’s Map 1; Parcel 1850708; Zone R-3; Request to 

release the remaining Erosion and Sediment Control Bond in the amount of $30,000 – Mr. Pade 
provided an overview of the situation and stated how the conditions of the current bond were set by 
the Inland Wetlands and Watercourses Agency. George Wallace, the Town of Canton Project 
Administrator, inspected the property and issued his recommendations. Mr. Pade reviewed Mr. 
Wallace’s recommendations, as well as the suggested terms for approval. Mr. Jeff Miller, the property 
owner, was present to provide further insight on the property and answer any questions the 
Commission had. Based on the discussion that occurred, there was a consensus that the Planning 
and Zoning Commission had no objection to the release of the remaining Erosion and Sediment 
Control Bond as requested by the applicant.  
 

2. Review minutes from the September 21, 2016 Regular Meeting and November 2, 2016 Special 
Meeting – This agenda item was TABLED. 

 
3. 2017 Planning and Zoning Commission Meeting Schedule  

 
MOTION: Mr. Thiesse moved to adopt the 2017 Planning and Zoning Commission meeting schedule 
as proposed. Mr. Huyghebaert seconded the motion, which passed unanimously 4-0-0. 

 
4. Discussion of Fiscal Year 2016-2017 Annual Report Narrative – The Commission reviewed the 

draft narrative and had no changes. 
 

5. Discussion of Possible Edits to Zoning Regulations – Mr. Thiesse recommended some changes 
for the proposed Zoning Regulation Amendments that will be discussed at a public hearing on 
December 21, 2016.  

 
a. Review of draft language pertaining to Electronic Message Board Signs – This agenda item 

was TABLED. 
 

6. Discussion of Design Regulations – This agenda item was TABLED. 
 

7. Discussion of Subdivision Regulations Rewrite – This agenda item was TABLED. 
 

8. Discussion of Streetscape Grant – This agenda item was TABLED. 
 

9. Discussion of the TIF Preliminary Master Plan – This agenda item was TABLED. 
 

10. Staff Reports: 
 

a. Town Planner’s Report – This agenda item was TABLED. 
 

b. ZEO Report – The Commissioners received a copy of the report prior to the start of the meeting. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
MOTION: Mr. Huyghebaert moved to adjourn the meeting at 10:44 p.m. Mr. Thiesse seconded the 
motion, which passed unanimously 4-0-0.  
 



241 Main Street / Hartford / Connecticut / 06106 
Phone (860) 522-2217 / Fax (860) 724-1274 

www.crcog.org 

 

Andover / Avon / Berlin / Bloomfield / Bolton / Canton / Columbia / Coventry / East Granby / East Hartford / East Windsor / Ellington / Enfield / Farmington  
Glastonbury / Granby / Hartford / Hebron / Manchester / Marlborough / Mansfield / New Britain / Newington / Plainville / Rocky Hill / Simsbury / Somers 

South Windsor / Southington / Stafford / Suffield / Tolland / Vernon / West Hartford / Wethersfield / Willington / Windsor / Windsor Locks 

 
A voluntary Council of Governments formed to initiate and implement regional programs of benefit to the towns and the region 

 
TO:   Municipal Planners and Planning Directors  
 
FROM:  Mary Ellen Kowalewski, Director of Policy & Planning 
 
SUBJECT:  Appointments to CRCOG Regional Planning Commission  
 
DATE:  December 1, 2016 
 
 

We are updating our Regional Planning Commission membership lists. Appointments 
are made on an annual basis for terms beginning in January and lasting through 
December of the upcoming year.  
 
We request that your Planning Commission or Planning and Zoning Commission 
appoint a representative and alternate to serve on the RPC from the date of 
appointment through December 31, 2017. If your commission members are appointed 
by the Board of Selectmen or Town/City Council, the RPC appointments must also be 
approved by these bodies.  
 
Your participation on the Regional Planning Commission ensures that the concerns of 
your municipality are reflected in regional plans and policies developed by the 
commission. Two of the main responsibilities of the RPC, as established under State 
Statutes, are to keep up-to-date a Plan of Conservation and Development for the 
Capitol Region, and to comment on zoning and subdivision proposals occurring along 
town lines.  
 
Please make sure that the person appointed to the RPC is willing to attend our 
meetings on a regular basis, and if possible, please appoint an alternate who is willing 
to attend in the member’s absence. The 2017 RPC Meeting Schedule is attached. 
Meetings will be held on the second or third Thursday of meeting months, as noted on 
the schedule.  Meetings are held at the West Hartford Town Hall.  
 
RPC meetings are used to keep planning and zoning officials informed on CRCOG 
projects and programs related to regional and local planning. In addition, workshop 
sessions on current planning and zoning topics are periodically held, and members are 
given time to share information on municipal planning issues.  
 
We look forward to working with your town’s RPC representative in the coming year. If 
you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at 860-522-2217 ext. 222 or 
mkowalewski@crcog.org.  
 

cc. Regional Planning Commission members and alternates. 

mailto:mkowalewski@crcog.org


 
 

 

REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION 

2017 MEETING SCHEDULE 

 

Regular meetings of the Regional Planning Commission are held on the second or third 

Thursday of every other month. 

 

7:00 PM at the 

West Hartford Town Hall, 

50 South Main Street, 

West Hartford (unless noted to the contrary) 

 

 

January 19, 2017 

March 9, 2017 

May 18, 2017 

September 14, 2017 

November 16, 2017 

 



 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Collins Company Complex 

Preliminary TIF Master Plan 
Town of Canton, CT 
 

 

September 2016 

 

 

Prepared for:  

Town of Canton, CT 
4 Market Street 
Collinsville, CT 06019 
 

 

 

 

 

 

120 West Avenue, Suite 303 
Saratoga Springs, NY 12866 

518.899.2608 

www.camoinassociates.com



 

  

About Camoin Associates 
Camoin Associates has provided economic development consulting 
services to municipalities, economic development agencies, and private 
enterprises since 1999. Through the services offered, Camoin Associates 
has had the opportunity to serve Economic Development Organizations, 
local and state governments, and developers from Maine to California; 
corporations and organizations that include Lowes Home Improvement, 
FedEx, Volvo (Nova Bus) and the New York Islanders; as well as private 
developers proposing projects in excess of $600 million. Our reputation 
for detailed, place-specific, and accurate analysis has led to projects in 28 
states and garnered attention from national media outlets including 
Marketplace (NPR), Forbes magazine, and The Wall Street Journal. 
Additionally, our marketing strategies have helped our clients gain both 
national and local media coverage for their projects in order to build public 
support and leverage additional funding. The firm currently has offices in 
New York; Maine; Massachusetts, and Vermont. To learn more about our 
experience and projects in all of our service lines, please visit our website 
at www.camoinassociates.com. You can also find us on Twitter 
@camoinassociate, on Facebook, and on our website at 
www.camoinassociates.com. 

 

The Project Team  
Jim Damicis 
Senior Vice President, Project Principal  

Tom Dworetsky 
Economic Development Analyst, Project Manager 



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   

Table of Contents 
Introduction ............................................................................................................................................................................................................ 1 

Town Goals and Objectives .............................................................................................................................................................................. 5 

The Collins Company Site .................................................................................................................................................................................. 6 

Financing Sources ................................................................................................................................................................................................. 8 

Development Scenarios ..................................................................................................................................................................................... 9 

Recommendations ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 24 

Appendix A | Downtown TIF: Example Uses of TIF Revenues ........................................................................................................... 27 

Appendix B | Credit Enhancement Agreements (CEAs) ....................................................................................................................... 34 

 

 

  



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   1 

Introduction 
The purpose of this preliminary plan is to prepare for a Tax Increment Financing (TIF) District Master Plan for the 

Town of Canton, Connecticut, for the redevelopment of the former Collins Company Complex and to support 

economic development in the village center of Collinsville. The Collins Company Complex is the former home of 

the Collins Company, which manufactured axes and related products until 1966. The property consists of 25 

historic buildings situated on 19 acres along the east bank of the Farmington River and within Collinsville in the 

southwestern section of Canton. 

Town records indicate there are 34-56 businesses that occupy the site, but much of the site remains vacant or 

underutilized. The full property is currently for sale and the Town is interested is seeing the site developed to its 

fullest economic potential in a manner that is compatible with the Town, the Collinsville village center, and the 

natural and historical environment; creates new investment for the Town’s tax base; creates new employment; and 

helps support a vibrant and sustainable downtown economy. 

The site has yet to generate a buyer and developer, though several proposals are being considered. To come to 

fruition and to be developed in a manner that best meets the Town’s needs, a public private partnership will be 

needed to support site and related development costs. The need for this partnership is driven by:  

� Relatively high site costs, including but not limited to environmental testing and remediation, demolition, 

stabilization of existing structures, utilities, roads, parking, restoration of canal and dam system, public 

access amenities, and other quasi-public infrastructure 

� Ability to achieve town goals, and objectives to become a signature property with significant economic 

impact potential 

TIF provides this opportunity for a public/private partnership. TIF is a financing method used by communities to 

catalyze economic development. It allows future property tax revenues from new development at a site or within a 

district to be dedicated and utilized to support the project/district and related economic development. Tax 

benefits from the project can be used to support public and private development costs. Figure 1 on the following 

page shows how revenues are dedicated or “captured” under a TIF arrangement. 

TIF revenues can be used to offset public and/or private developer costs and as business incentives. TIF revenues 

can be used for: 

� Infrastructure 

� Land Acquisition 

� Construction, Demolition, Remodel 

� Streetscape 

� Capital Costs (fixtures, equipment, etc.) 

� Professional Services (engineering, architecture, etc.) 

� TIF Administration & Organization Costs (municipal, consulting costs) 

� Off-Site (but related to TIF District) including: 

o Roadways 

o Water/Sewer 

o Public Safety 

o School 

o Mitigation of Adverse Impacts (e.g., new traffic) 



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   2 

o Economic Development Initiatives  

o Employment Training 

o Environmental Improvement Projects 

� To support funding for approved TIF uses above 

 

Figure 1 

See Appendix A for examples on how TIF has been used in communities throughout Maine. While new to 

Connecticut, TIF has been utilized in Maine for more the twenty-five years.  

 

  



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   3 

TIF Process 
To establish a TIF District a municipality must complete a District Master Plan. This includes: 

� Description and listing of boundaries and properties (parcels) within the district 

� Description of projected future development – size, type, uses 

� Site, building, and infrastructure Improvements to be completed in the district and related areas, including 

public and private 

� Duration of TIF District (up to 50-year maximum) 

� Financial Plan – existing tax valuation, public and private development costs projected future valuation 

from new development projected new revenues, portion of new revenues to be used in TIF plan broken 

out between public and private uses, financing mechanisms, public debt if any, and related financial data 

The process for approval of a TIF incorporates nine steps. They are: 

1. After securing an interest in real property within the Tax Increment District area as described in the 

preliminary TIF District Master Plan, a Developer may approach the Town seeking the potential use of Tax 

Increment Financing (TIF). The property interest must include sufficient rights to purchase the property 

upon a definitive event. 

2. The Board of Selectmen shall review the proposal against the criteria, goals and objectives identified in 

the Preliminary TIF District Master Plan.  

3. Upon review and approval of the Board of Selectmen, the Chief Administrative Officer shall be authorized 

to enter into negotiations with the Developer to create a proposed TIF District Master Plan consistent with 

the guidelines outlined in the Preliminary TIF Master Plan. Prior to initiating such negotiations, the 

Developer shall deposit in escrow with the Town sufficient funds to pay the reasonable costs of 

professional services to represent and assist the Town in developing and reviewing the proposed TIF 

District Master Plan on behalf of the Town. The Chief Administrative Officer shall be authorized to contract 

such professional services as may be necessary to assist in creating the Proposed TIF District Master Plan.  

4. After completing the proposed TIF District Master Plan, the Plan shall be submitted to the Board of 

Selectmen for review. After consultation with the Board of Finance, the Board of Selectmen shall 

determine whether the proposed TIF District Master Plan conforms to the guidelines specified in the 

Preliminary TIF District Master Plan, satisfies the statutory requirements of Connecticut Public Act 15-57 

and is in the Town’s best interest to adopt.  

5. The Board of Selectmen shall submit the TIF District Master Plan to the Planning and Zoning Commission 

for comment ninety (90) days prior to approval of the proposed TIF District Master Plan. The Planning and 

Zoning Commission shall also render an advisory opinion as to whether the proposed TIF District Master 

Plan is consistent with the Plan of Conservation and Development. 

6. After receiving comments from the Planning and Zoning Commission the Board of Selectmen shall hold a 

public hearing on the proposed TIF District Master Plan. Such public hearing shall be properly noticed at 

least 10 days prior to the public hearing pursuant to Public Act 15-57. 

7. The proposed TIF District Master Plan shall then be submitted to a Town Meeting for final approval. 

8. If approved by the Town Meeting the Board of Selectmen shall take such steps as are necessary to create 

and administer the TIF District Master Plan.  



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   4 

9. The creation and approval of a TIF District Master Plan shall not relieve the Developer from complying 

with any other regulatory and/or permitting requirements which may be necessary as part of the 

Developer’s project. 

 

 

  



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   5 

Town Goals and Objectives 
The purpose of this plan is to prepare for a Tax Increment Financing (TIF) District Master Plan for the Town of 

Canton, Connecticut, for the redevelopment of the Collins Company Complex and to support economic 

development in the adjacent downtown area. The Town is interested in seeing the site developed to its fullest 

economic potential in a manner that is compatible with the Town, the Collinsville village center, and the natural 

and historical environment; creates new investment for the Town’s tax base; creates new employment; and helps 

support a vibrant and sustainable downtown economy. Specifically, the Town seeks development that reasonably 

meets the following goals and objectives: 

� Is reasonably compatible with surrounding uses and the natural environment 

� Is feasible in the market with defined assistance through a partnership with the Town and has utilized all 

non-Town related sources of funding support 

� Meets the overall economic development goals and objectives of the Town 

� Creates and enhances connections to downtown and adjacent neighborhoods and improves the 

economic wellbeing of the downtown area and Town as a whole 

� Preserves the historic resources of the site and prevents the further deterioration of these resources 

� Enhances recreation, public spaces, and water access 

� Creates and/or sustains businesses and jobs  

� Increases and diversifies the tax base  

� Can be developed to its fullest potential within a reasonable time frame 

� Has a net-positive fiscal impact on the Town by generating more revenues than it costs in related services 

and expenditures 

These goals and objectives will be utilized by the Town when considering the planning, adoption, and 

implementation of a Tax Increment Financing District and any related agreements to assist potential developers. 

  



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   6 

The Collins Company Site 
The site is the former home of the Collins Company, which manufactured axes and related products in a factory 

complex onsite until 1966. The property consists of 25 historic buildings situated on one parcel occupying 19 

acres along the east bank of the Farmington River in the Collinsville section of Canton, Connecticut. The 

Farmington River Rail Trail divides the site in two. 

Existing buildings date back to the 19th and early 20th centuries and once functioned as mills and warehouses. The 

Farmington River, which once powered the factory, traverses the site through stone-lined canals and raceways. 

The existing buildings contain about 150,000 square feet of space, some of which is occupied by retail, office, and 

light industrial tenants. Much of the property, however, sits vacant and unused. 

Development Potential 
Camoin Associates conducted interviews with interested developers as well as members of the Canton community 

in order to understand the development potential of the site from a physical perspective, regulatory perspective, 

and economic feasibility perspective. 

The site is within the Town’s Industrial Heritage (IH-1) zoning district. The district was developed to retain the 

historic character of the property as well as promote a mix of uses that complements nearby downtown 

Collinsville. The mix of uses allowed by current zoning is shown in Table 1.  

Table 1 

 

Please reference the @COLLINSVILLE IH-1 District Master Plan and Zoning Standards, adopted November 17, 

1999, for additional information on use and design standards. 

Residential 

According to interviews with real estate professionals familiar with the Canton market, there is significant demand 

for residential units. Canton is located about 20 miles from employment centers in and around Hartford, making it 

a desirable location for professionals and families seeking to live in a small-town setting but also within an easy 

commuting distance. Moreover, the scenic views and historic nature of the axe factory make the property 

particularly attractive to potential residents. Market-rate rental apartments and for-sale condominium units are 

both viable for this site. 

Retail and Restaurant 

Retail space is also a viable use for the site, given its location in the village center of Collinsville. Members of the 

Canton community have expressed a desire to augment Collinsville’s position as a destination for specialty and 

boutique retail and dining within the region. While Collinsville already boasts an attractive historic downtown, the 

existing shops and restaurants are not sufficiently numerous to achieve the critical mass needed to attract regional 

visitors and offer them enough to do to justify the trip. Additional space for specialty retail and dining at the axe 

factory site would be instrumental toward achieving this objective. It should be emphasized that local and 

specialty retail and eateries would be the most logical fit for the site from an economic perspective, as opposed to 

Use Type Required Range

Residential 40 - 100 units

Office 25,000 - 75,000 SF

Light Industry 10,000 - 25,000 SF

Retail 10,000 - 45,000 SF

Other 0 - 50,000 SF

Current Zoning Standards - Industrial Heritage (IH-1) District



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   7 

national chain retailers, which require significantly higher traffic counts than are currently present on the 

thoroughfares adjacent to the site. 

Office 

A low to moderate amount of office space could likely be supported at the site, with most potential office tenants 

likely to be small space users. A large firm would not be a strong candidate to locate in Collinsville given its 

relatively remote location from major transportation corridors and other employment centers. 

Some level of medical office space would be a suitable use for the site, as national trends are pointing to a rise in 

outpatient care and thus an increased need for ambulatory care facilities. Moreover, the region’s aging population 

suggests growing demand for healthcare overall. 

Accommodations 

There are currently very limited accommodations options in the immediate Canton area. A hotel onsite would be 

instrumental in supporting the growth of visitation and tourism in Canton. The presence of the Farmington River 

and other natural assets in the vicinity, combined with increased retail and dining options and event space that 

could come with site redevelopment make a small boutique hotel an economically feasible option for the site. This 

will provide an opportunity for guests to spend the night in Collinsville, which is currently not possible. 

Light Industry 

There are currently several light industrial tenants occupying space at the site. Given the site’s manufacturing 

history, it is important to the Town that these uses continue onsite. From a financial feasibility perspective, 

however, light industry provides less value to developers than other higher uses for which demand exists. It is also 

of concern that the rents that would have to be charged in order to justify the investment would far exceed what 

light industrial tenants currently pay, as well as the maximum they might be willing to pay. In order for light 

industrial uses to continue onsite, some level of subsidy through a public/private partnership would likely be 

needed. 

 

  



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   8 

Financing Economic Development 
Tax Increment Financing (TIF) provides a method for communities to support economic development by helping 

finance public and private investments for development within a specified district. In addition to TIF, there are 

other financing mechanisms to assist with economic development financing, all of which can be used either 

separate from or within a TIF District Plan. 

Property Tax Abatement 
Property tax abatements involve reducing a portion of property taxes owed for specified reasons. In Connecticut 

they can be used by communities to reduce taxes for a specified period of time for certain types of new 

construction or rehabilitation including residential and commercial/industrial, subject to property tax laws detailed 

in Chapter 203 of the Connecticut General Statutes. They have been the traditional method used by communities 

in Connecticut to incentivize private development for the purpose of economic development at the municipal 

level. Their use is very limited in terms of time period over which incentives can be provided, the types of property 

and uses for which abatements can be provided, and the percent of taxes to be paid that can be abated. TIF 

provides an alternative to the use of tax abatements through what is known as a credit enhancement agreement 

(CEA), which provide far greater flexibility on these matters and are discussed further below. Plus, within TIF 

districts, abatements or CEAs can be utilized according the Town’s district plan. 

Historic Tax Credits 
Historic Tax Credits can also be utilized to help offset development costs. The Connecticut Historic Rehabilitation 

Tax Credit Program establishes a 25% tax credit on the Qualified Rehabilitation Expenditures associated with the 

rehabilitation of a Certified Historic Structure for either 1) residential use of five units or more, 2) mixed residential 

and nonresidential use, or 3) nonresidential use consistent with the historic character of such property or the 

district in which such property is located. An additional credit is available for projects that include affordable 

housing as provided in section 8-39a of the general statutes. Similar Federal Tax Credits of 20% are also available, 

which together with the State credits covers a total of 45% of qualified expenditures 

Program Specifics: 

� 25% tax credit of the total qualified rehabilitation expenditures  

� 30% tax credit of the total qualified rehabilitation expenditures if the project includes an affordable 

housing component provided at least 20% of the rental units or 10% of for sale units qualify under CGS 

Section 8-39a.  

� $31.7 million in tax credit reservations are available each fiscal year  

� per project cap is up to $4.5 million in tax credits  

� qualified rehabilitation expenditures are hard costs associated with rehabilitation of the certified historic 

structure; site improvements and non-construction costs are excluded   

� buildings must be listed on the National or State Register of Historic Places, either individually or as part 

of an historic district  

� all work must comply with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation  

� state tax credits may be combined with the 20% federal historic preservation tax credits provided the 

project qualifies under federal law as a substantial rehabilitation of depreciable property as defined by the 

Internal Revenue Service 

� tax credit vouchers are issued after completion of rehabilitation work or, in phased projects, completion of 

rehabilitation work to an identifiable portion of the building placed in service 



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   9 

� tax credits are available for the tax year in which the building or, in phased projects, an identifiable portion 

of the building is placed in service  

� tax credits can only be used by C-corporations with tax liability under Chapters 207 through 212 of the 

Connecticut General Statutes  

� tax credits can be assigned, transferred or conveyed in whole or in part by the owner to others up to three 

times 

Tax Increment Financing 
The purpose of Tax Increment Financing (TIF) is to assist a developer with redevelopment through various 

mechanisms, including the fixing of tax assessments, abatements, payment for credit enhancement agreement, 

bonds, and funding of infrastructure to support development. Through a TIF, future property tax revenues from 

new development and/or above current property valuations within a specified district (parcel or set of parcels) can 

be dedicated to pay portions of public and/or private development. This can include any of the following or a mix 

of the following:  

� Placing into TIF development fund to dedicate to paying off public costs for infrastructure and economic 

development related to the district 

� Credit Enhancement Agreements – a binding legal agreement with a property owner or developer to 

reduce future property taxes related to new development by a specified percentage (0-100%) for a 

specified period of time (up to 50 years). This reduction in future property taxes represents a future flow 

of funds which can then be used by the property owner or development to enhance their credit in 

obtaining additional private debt or equity. 

� Tax Abatement – see explanation above – more restrictive than CEAs but can still be utilized within a TIF 

District 

� Fixed Valuation – With a TIF District the municipality can agree to set a fixed valuation on a property for 

up to fifteen years providing the owner/developer with predictability in tax liability. 

� Payment stream for public finance including bonds explained above 

� General Obligation bond (GO) – A GO is a bond issued by the municipality that is backed by the 

municipality’s full faith and credit (including taxing authority). GO bonds are obligated to be paid back 

regardless of the completion and performance of the use for which they were issued. They are typically 

used by municipalities to finance significant public infrastructure projects including roads, sewer, water, 

and facilities. 

� Revenue Bonds – Revenue Bonds provide a method for financing public and private (through public-

private partnership) infrastructure and development costs. They are a means of debt financing available to 

municipalities. Revenue bonds distinguish themselves from general obligation (GO) bonds through their 

method of repayment; unlike GOs which rely on taxation, revenue bonds are guaranteed by the specific 

revenues generated by the issuer. In the case of use for financing for economic development an example 

would be utilizing parking fees to pay back a revenue bond utilized to build a parking garage. Within a TIF 

district and according to a TIF District Master Plan future revenues from new property taxes can be 

utilized to help finance public and private development costs including infrastructure and site 

improvements. However, if revenue bond funds are used to support private development then the bond 

revenues will not be tax-exempt, contrary to if they are used for public infrastructure.  



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   10 

Development Scenarios 
Two potential development scenarios were developed for the purposes of modeling future revenues and expenses 

the Town would incur as a result of redeveloping the site. The scenarios were assembled based on an 

understanding of what the market would support, current zoning standards, and community desires.  

Scenario 1 reflects zoning requirements for the Town’s Industrial Heritage (IH-1) District, and it includes the use 

types as outlined in the following table. Development intensities for each use type fall within the range allowed by 

current zoning. Applying typical construction costs per square foot to each use type, the total development cost 

for the scenario is calculated.1 The total development cost for Scenario 1 is estimated at $33.25 million. 

Table 2 

 

Scenario 2 reflects the maximum intensity of development desired, as determined from input from the Town and 

its residents. The same construction costs per square foot as used in the first scenario were applied. The total 

development cost for Scenario 1 is estimated at $54.25 million. 

Table 3 

 

                                                      

1 Note that hotel and light industrial construction costs are based on costs for rehabilitation and not new construction. 

Use Type Intensity
Construction 

Cost per SF
Total Cost

Residential 100 units / 100,000 SF 200$               20,000,000$  

Retail 20,000 SF 150$               3,000,000$    

Restaurant & Café 15,000 SF 150$               2,250,000$    

Office 15,000 SF 150$               2,250,000$    

Medical Office 10,000 SF 150$               1,500,000$    

Hotel 30,000 SF 125$               3,750,000$    

Light Industrial 10,000 SF 50$                 500,000$      

33,250,000$  

Scenario 1 - Current Zoning

Development Program and Cost

Scenario 1 Total

Use Type Intensity
Construction 

Cost per SF
Total Cost

Residential 175 units / 175,000 SF 200$               35,000,000$  

Retail 55,000 SF 150$               8,250,000$    

Restaurant & Café 15,000 SF 150$               2,250,000$    

Office 15,000 SF 150$               2,250,000$    

Medical Office 15,000 SF 150$               2,250,000$    

Hotel 30,000 SF 125$               3,750,000$    

Light Industrial 10,000 SF 50$                 500,000$      

54,250,000$  

Scenario 2 - Maximum

Development Program and Cost

Scenario 2 Total



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   11 

Other Development Costs 

The development costs above reflect only vertical construction costs, and do not take into account site work costs. 

Site work costs needed to allow for development are estimated at approximately $10-$15 million and may include 

the following: 

� Site engineering 

� Environmental testing and remediation 

� Demolition 

� Stabilization of existing building foundations 

� Installation of utilities, e.g. gas, electric, water, sewer, phone, CATV 

� Installation of stormwater management 

� Installation of roads, sidewalks, lighting, parking 

� Restoration of the forebay pond and canal and dam system through the site 

� Public access to river, Riverwalk, and trail 

� Other quasi-public infrastructure serving to integrate site and surrounding neighborhood  

Based on the parking formula in the current zoning regulations, Scenario 1 requires 316 parking spaces and 

Scenario 2 requires 495 spaces, which may be built as some combination of surface and structured parking. 

Assessed Value 
In order to estimate future revenues and costs associated with each scenario, the assessed value of the completed 

development must be estimated. While income-producing properties are typically assessed under the income 

approach to valuation, at this stage in the planning process not enough information exists to reasonably project 

the net operating income of a potential development. As such, we use a modified cost approach to estimate 

assessed value. Under the cost approach, the market value of a property is equal to the cost of construction, which 

is typically higher than market value determined under the income approach. For the purposes of arriving at a 

conservative assessed value, we consider only the costs of vertical construction and exclude site work and parking 

costs. In Connecticut, real property is assessed at 70% of value. Applying 70% to the market value under the 

modified cost approach yields the estimated assessed value for each scenario. Note that this value is known in tax 

increment financing (TIF) as the “increment.” The increment is the increase in assessed value attributable to 

project, and does not include the assessed value of the land or existing improvements on the property.2 

Table 4 

 

Annual Property Tax Revenues 
The current mill rate for the Town of Canton is 29.76. Applying this to assessed value, annual property tax revenue 

for Scenario 1 if completed today would be approximately $693,000. For Scenario 2, property tax revenue for the 

current year would be about $1.13 million. See Table 5. 

                                                      

2 For the planning and approval of a final TIF agreement the Town’s Assessor will estimate future valuation based on 

development details and financials to be provided by the developer. 

Scenario 1 Scenario 2

Development Cost 33,250,000$     54,250,000$     

Assessed Value (70%) 23,275,000$     37,975,000$     

Assessed Value



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   12 

To account for future rises in the mill rate, the current mill rate was escalated by 1.5% per annum over 20 years. 

This is the average rate of increase in the Town’s mill rate since 2008, not considering the change between 2012 

and 2013, when a Town-wide property revaluation occurred. 

Over 20 years, the total property tax revenue associated with Scenario 1 would be about $16.3 million. Total 

property tax revenue associated with Scenario 2 would be about $26.5 million. 

Table 5 

 

Note that the revenue scheduled shown in Figure 5 is for planning purposes and assumes completion of the full 

development scenario in Year 1. In actuality, development of the site would likely be completed in phases based 

on the specific development and market conditions.  

  

Scenario 1 Scenario 2

Current 29.76 692,664$            1,130,136$         

1 30.21 703,054$            1,147,088$         

2 30.66 713,600$            1,164,294$         

3 31.12 724,304$            1,181,759$         

4 31.59 735,168$            1,199,485$         

5 32.06 746,196$            1,217,477$         

6 32.54 757,389$            1,235,740$         

7 33.03 768,750$            1,254,276$         

8 33.52 780,281$            1,273,090$         

9 34.03 791,985$            1,292,186$         

10 34.54 803,865$            1,311,569$         

11 35.06 815,923$            1,331,243$         

12 35.58 828,162$            1,351,211$         

13 36.12 840,584$            1,371,479$         

14 36.66 853,193$            1,392,051$         

15 37.21 865,991$            1,412,932$         

16 37.77 878,981$            1,434,126$         

17 38.33 892,165$            1,455,638$         

18 38.91 905,548$            1,477,473$         

19 39.49 919,131$            1,499,635$         

20 40.08 932,918$            1,522,129$         

Total, Years 1-20 16,257,186$       26,524,882$       

*escalated at 1.5% per annum

Revenue (Assessed Value * Mill Rate)
Mill Rate*Year

Annual Property Tax Revenues



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   13 

Developer Share of Increment 
Two possible splits of the tax increment between a potential developer and the Town were considered. Under the 

first arrangement, the developer and the Town would each receive half of the increment, a 50/50 split. Under the 

second arrangement, the developer would receive 25% of the increment, and the Town would receive the 

remaining 75%, a 25/75 split. 

Table 6 shows the share of the increment for Scenario 1 that each party would receive under the 50/50 split and 

25/75 split, both at the current mill rate and over a 20-year escalation. Under the 50/50 split, the developer would 

receive approximately 24% of the project’s total development cost. Under the 25/75 split, the developer would 

receive approximately 12%.3 

Table 6 

 

  

                                                      

3 Since the Collinsville TIF would be among the first TIFs to be implemented in Connecticut, there are no in-state examples 

against which to compare the amount of TIF revenue allocated to a developer as a proportion of total development costs. 

Drawing from examples in Maine, the developer allocation of TIF revenues amounts to about 16% of total development costs 

on average, which falls within the 12.2% to 24.4% range shown here. See Appendix A for applications of TIF in Maine. 

Developer Share Town Share Total

50 / 50 Split 346,332$             346,332$             692,664$             

25 / 75 Split 173,166$             519,498$             692,664$             

Developer Share Town Share Total

50 / 50 Split 8,128,593$           8,128,593$           16,257,186$         

Total Development Cost 33,250,000$         

Developer Share as a Pct. 

Of Total Development Cost
24.4%

25 / 75 Split 4,064,296$           12,192,889$         16,257,186$         

Total Development Cost 33,250,000$         

Developer Share as a Pct. 

Of Total Development Cost
12.2%

Annual Property Tax Revenues at Current Mill Rate 

Scenario 1 - Share of Tax Revenue

Property Tax Revenues Over 20 Years (Annual Mill Rate Escalation of 1.5%)



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   14 

Similar information is shown for Scenario 2 in Table 7 below. 

Table 7 

 

The Town should be prepared to negotiate with a potential developer the schedule of revenue sharing. It is likely 

that a developer would prefer to frontload the revenue sharing arrangement (i.e. receive a greater revenue share 

in the early years of the TIF, scaling down to smaller amounts in later years) in order to cover high upfront costs 

associated with site preparation and construction. Therefore, under a 50/50 split arrangement, for example, the 

developer might receive higher than 50% of the tax increment in the first year scaling down to lower than 50% in 

the final year, averaging out to a 50% share over the duration of the TIF. The exact arrangement would be worked 

out with the developer on a case-by-case basis and dependent on the needs to make the project feasible and 

beneficial to the Town. 

  

Developer Share Town Share Total

50 / 50 Split 565,068$             565,068$             1,130,136$           

25 / 75 Split 282,534$             847,602$             1,130,136$           

Developer Share Town Share Total

50 / 50 Split 13,262,441$         13,262,441$         26,524,882$         

Total Development Cost 54,250,000$         

Developer Share as a Pct. 

Of Total Development Cost
24.4%

25 / 75 Split 6,631,220$           19,893,661$         26,524,882$         

Total Development Cost 54,250,000$         

Developer Share as a Pct. 

Of Total Development Cost
12.2%

Scenario 2 - Share of Tax Revenue

Annual Property Tax Revenues at Current Mill Rate 

Property Tax Revenues Over 20 Years (Annual Mill Rate Escalation of 1.5%)



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   15 

Limited Fiscal Analysis 
A limited fiscal analysis was performed to determine the impact of each scenario on Town services, and whether 

the amount of the increment retained by the Town would be sufficient to cover the increase in expenses 

attributable to the development scenarios. We emphasize that the impacts this section are calculated using a very 

conservative statistical approach and are not based on a detailed examination of Town’s budget items. It is 

recommended that a full fiscal impact analysis be completed for any development proposal that is presented to 

the Town.  

Demographic Impacts 

Using demographic multipliers developed for Connecticut by the Rutgers University Center for Urban Policy 

Research, we developed estimates for the number of residents and public school-age children that would be 

added to the Town as a result of each scenario. Assuming an even split of one- and two-bedroom apartments in 

the $850 to $1,450 per month range,4 we estimate that the 100 new residential units in Scenario 1 would add 183 

new residents to the Town, of which 12 would be school-age children attending public schools. Using the same 

assumptions for Scenario 2, the 175 new residential units would add 321 new residents and 21 public school-age 

children. 

Table 8 

 

Percent Change 

The percent change in residential population, commercial assessed value, and public school enrollment were 

calculated in order to estimate associated changes in revenues and expenses. 

The 183 new residents in Scenario 1 would represent a 1.80% increase in the Town’s population. The 321 new 

residents in Scenario 2 would represent a 3.15% increase in the Town’s population. 

Table 9 

 

                                                      

4 We note that rents for residential units may exceed this range. Because the number of residents and school-age children 

tends to decrease as rents increase, we applied multipliers for this price range as a conservative approach. 

Scenario 1 Scenario 2

New Residential Units 100 175

New Residents 183 321

New Public School-Age Children 12 21

Calculated using Connecticuit demographic multipliers developed by Rutgers

Demographic Impacts

Current Population (2016)* 10,173               

New Residents, Scenario 1 183                   

Pct. Increase over Current, Scenario 1 1.80%

New Residents, Scenario 2 321                   

Pct. Increase over Current, Scenario 2 3.15%

*Source: Esri

Town of Canton - New Residents



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   16 

The assessed value of the commercial component of Scenario 1 is about $9.3 million, or an increase of 0.95% in 

the town’s total grand list. In Scenario 2, the commercial assessed value of $13.5 million represents a 1.37% 

increase. 

Table 10 

 

Scenario 1 would result in a 0.73% increase in enrollment over current levels in the Canton Public Schools. 

Scenario 2 would result in a 1.29% increase. 

Table 11 

 

Change in Expenses and Revenues 

We applied these percentage increases in residential population, commercial assessed value, and public school 

enrollment to relevant line items in the Town’s budget in order to estimate the associated change in expenses and 

revenues. We calculated these using two approaches: the High Estimate (Average Cost Approach) and Low 

Estimate (Blended Cost Approach). 

High Estimate (Average Cost Approach) 

The average cost approach assumes that all Town expenses and revenues change in proportion with the change in 

residents or commercial assessed value. This is an extremely conservative approach. 

Low Estimate (Blended Cost Approach) 

The blended cost approach assumes that only certain budget items (“variable expenses”) change in proportion 

with change in residents or commercial assessed value, while others remain fixed. 

The following series of tables shows the high and low estimate calculations of expenses and revenues for both 

development scenarios. 

 

Total Grand List (2015) 980,322,490$      

New AV, Scenario 1 23,275,000$       

New Commercial AV, Scenario 1 9,275,000$         

Pct. Increase over Current, Scenario 1 0.95%

New AV, Scenario 2 37,975,000$       

New Commercial AV, Scenario 2 13,475,000$       

Pct. Increase over Current, Scenario 2 1.37%

Town of Canton - Increase in Assessed Value

Current Enrollment (15-16)* 1,633                 

New PSAC, Scenario 1 12                     

Pct. Increase over Current, Scenario 1 0.73%

New PSAC, Scenario 2 21                     

Pct. Increase over Current, Scenario 2 1.29%

*Source: CT Dept of Education

Canton Public Schools - 

New Public School-Age Children (PSAC)



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   17 

Table 12 

 

 Scenario 1 

Increase 

 Scenario 2 

Increase 

 Scenario 1 

Increase 

 Scenario 2 

Increase 

1.80% 3.15% 1.80% 3.15%

General Government 699,237$             12,578$           22,038$           -$                    -$               -$               

Finance 424,421$             7,635$            13,376$           -$                    -$               -$               

Police 1,904,510$           34,260$           60,024$           1,904,510$           13,995$           24,562$           

Fire Service & Other Public Safety 469,088$             8,438$            14,784$           469,088$             3,447$            6,050$            

Public Works 1,832,061$           32,957$           57,741$           1,832,061$           13,463$           23,627$           

Human Services 1,072,211$           19,288$           33,793$           1,072,211$           7,879$            13,828$           

Planning & Community Development 318,325$             5,726$            10,033$           318,325$             2,339$            4,105$            

Insurance 278,141$             5,003$            8,766$            -$                    -$               -$               

Health Insurance & Employee Benefits 1,893,735$           34,066$           59,684$           1,037,180$           7,622$            13,376$           

Capital Improvement 1,326,086$           23,855$           41,794$           -$                    -$               -$               

Total Expenses, Board of Selectmen 10,217,815$         183,806$         322,032$         6,633,375$           48,745$           85,547$           

High Estimate (Average Cost Approach)

Estimated Annual Expenses - Residential Component

Town of Canton Budget, Board of Selectmen

 Revised Budget 

FY 2015/16 

Revised Budget FY 

2015/16, 

Variable Expenses

Low Estimate (Blended Cost Approach)



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   18 

Table 13 

 

  

 Scenario 1 

Increase 

 Scenario 2 

Increase 

 Scenario 1 

Increase 

 Scenario 2 

Increase 

0.95% 1.37% 0.95% 1.37%

General Government 699,237$             6,616$            9,611$            -$                    -$               -$               

Finance 424,421$             4,016$            5,834$            -$                    -$               -$               

Police 1,904,510$           18,019$           26,178$           1,904,510$           18,019$           26,178$           

Fire Service & Other Public Safety 469,088$             4,438$            6,448$            469,088$             4,438$            6,448$            

Public Works 1,832,061$           17,333$           25,183$           1,832,061$           17,333$           25,183$           

Human Services 1,072,211$           10,144$           14,738$           -$                    -$               -$               

Planning & Community Development 318,325$             3,012$            4,376$            318,325$             3,012$            4,376$            

Insurance 278,141$             2,632$            3,823$            -$                    -$               -$               

Health Insurance & Employee Benefits 1,893,735$           17,917$           26,030$           1,037,180$           9,813$            14,257$           

Capital Improvement 1,326,086$           12,546$           18,228$           -$                    -$               -$               

Total Expenses, Board of Selectmen 10,217,815$         96,673$           140,449$         5,561,164$           52,615$           76,441$           

Estimated Annual Expenses - Commercial Component

Town of Canton Budget, Board of Selectmen

High Estimate (Average Cost Approach) Low Estimate (Blended Cost Approach)

 Revised Budget 

FY 2015/16 

Revised Budget FY 

2015/16, 

Variable Expenses



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   19 

 

Table 14 

 

  

 Scenario 1 

Increase 

 Scenario 2 

Increase 

 Scenario 1 

Increase 

 Scenario 2 

Increase 

0.73% 1.29% 0.73% 1.29%

Employee Salaries 14,788,880$         108,675$         190,725$         -$                    -$               -$               

Health Insurance & Employee Benefits 4,460,387$           32,777$           57,523$           -$                    -$               -$               

Purchased Services 3,320,967$           24,404$           42,829$           3,320,967$           24,404$           42,829$           

Utilities 646,425$             4,750$            8,337$            -$                    -$               -$               

Maintenace/Repairs 305,965$             2,248$            3,946$            -$                    -$               -$               

Other 1,114,672$           8,191$            14,375$           1,114,672$           8,191$            14,375$           

Capital Improvement 264,500$             1,944$            3,411$            -$                    -$               -$               

Total Expenses, Board of Education 24,901,796$         182,989$         321,146$         4,435,639$           32,595$           57,204$           

Estimated Annual Expenses - Public Schools

Town of Canton Budget, Board of Education

 Revised Budget 

FY 2015/16 

High Estimate (Average Cost Approach) Low Estimate (Blended Cost Approach)

Revised Budget FY 

2015/16, 

Variable Expenses



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   20 

 

Table 15 

 

  

 Scenario 1 

Increase 

 Scenario 2 

Increase 

 Scenario 1 

Increase 

 Scenario 2 

Increase 

1.80% 3.15% 1.80% 3.15%

Motor Vehicle Property Tax 2,415,502$           43,452$           76,129$           2,415,502$           43,452$           76,129$           

Town Clerk 260,000$             4,677$            8,194$            260,000$             4,677$            8,194$            

Police Department 64,490$               1,160$            2,033$            64,490$               1,160$            2,033$            

Parks and Recreation 49,500$               890$               1,560$            49,500$               890$               1,560$            

Library 14,084$               253$               444$               14,084$               253$               444$               

Charges for Services 7,500$                 135$               236$               7,500$                 135$               236$               

Miscellaneous Receipts 37,200$               669$               1,172$            37,200$               669$               1,172$            

Total Revenues 2,848,276$           51,237$           89,768$           2,848,276$           51,237$           89,768$           

Estimated Annual Revenues - Residential Component

Town of Canton Budget

High Estimate (Average Cost Approach) Low Estimate (Blended Cost Approach)

 Revised Budget 

FY 2015/16 

Revised Budget FY 

2015/16, 

Variable Expenses



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan   21 

 

Table 16 

 Scenario 1 

Increase 

 Scenario 2 

Increase 

 Scenario 1 

Increase 

 Scenario 2 

Increase 

0.95% 1.37% 0.95% 1.37%

Motor Vehicle Property Tax 2,415,502$           22,853$           33,202$           -$                    -$               -$               

Town Clerk 260,000$             2,460$            3,574$            260,000$             2,460$            3,574$            

Police Department 64,490$               610$               886$               64,490$               610$               886$               

Parks and Recreation 49,500$               468$               680$               -$                    -$               -$               

Library 14,084$               133$               194$               -$                    -$               -$               

Charges for Services 7,500$                 71$                 103$               -$                    -$               -$               

Miscellaneous Receipts 37,200$               352$               511$               -$                    -$               -$               

Total Revenues 2,848,276$           26,948$           39,151$           324,490$             3,070$            4,460$            

Estimated Annual Revenues - Commercial Component

Town of Canton Budget

High Estimate (Average Cost Approach) Low Estimate (Blended Cost Approach)

 Revised Budget 

FY 2015/16 

Revised Budget FY 

2015/16, 

Variable Expenses



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan 22 

The analysis above is summarized in Table 17, showing the high and low estimates for the change in annual 

expenses and revenues attributable to Scenarios 1 and 2. Note that new real estate taxes are excluded from the 

revenues line. 

Under Scenario 1, the net annual fiscal impact on the Town ranges from a low estimate of $80,000 in increased in 

costs to a high estimate of $385,000. Under Scenario 2, net impacts range from a $125,000 net increase in 

expenses to a $655,000 increase in expenses. This is, in effect, the minimum amount of real estate tax collections 

necessary for the project to pay for itself.  

Table 17 

 

In Table 18, net fiscal impacts are compared to estimated property tax revenues under a 50/50 split and 75/25 

split. In both scenarios, the amount of property tax the Town receives under the 75/25 split is enough to cover the 

“high estimate” net expenses. Under the 50/50 split however, the Town’s share of property tax revenues covers 

“low estimate” net expenses, but not “high estimate” net expenses.  

Table 18 

 

  

High Low High Low

Expenses - Board of Selectmen Budget (280,479)$  (101,360)$  (462,481)$  (161,988)$  

Expenses - Board of Education Budget (182,989)$  (32,595)$    (321,146)$  (57,204)$    

Revenues (excl. real estate taxes) 78,185$     54,307$     128,919$   94,229$     

Net Annual Fiscal Impact (excl. real estate taxes) (385,283)$  (79,648)$    (654,708)$  (124,964)$  

Estimated Net Annual Fiscal Impacts (excluding real estate taxes)

Scenario 1 Scenario 2

Low

Estimate

High

Estimate

Town Receives

50% Share of 

New Revenues

Town Receives

75% Share of 

New Revenues

Scenario 1 (79,648)$           (385,283)$         346,332$          519,498$          

Scenario 2 (124,964)$         (654,708)$         565,068$          847,602$          

Comparison of Net Fiscal Impacts and Property Tax Revenues

Net Fiscal Impacts (excl. RE 

property taxes)
Estimated Property Tax Revenues



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan 23 

Table 19 shows the Town’s revenue surplus (or gap) for each scenario. Under the 50/50 split and applying the high 

estimate, the Town would face a $39,000 gap for Scenario 1 and a $90,000 gap for Scenario 2. All other 

arrangements would lead to a revenue surplus for the Town. We emphasize that the “high estimate” is an 

extremely conservative approach and that true impacts are likely to be closer to the “low estimate.”  

Table 19 

 

The minimum Town share of the tax increment at which no gap would exist under the “high estimate” is 

approximately 58%. In other words, under the most conservative assumptions, the developer could receive up to 

42% of the tax increment, and the project would have a beneficial impact on the Town’s coffers. It should be 

emphasized that this is a limited fiscal impact analysis for planning purposes only. Actual impacts will vary based 

on the specifics of the development scenarios. A more in-depth fiscal impact should be completed prior to any 

final TIF agreements.  

 

  

Surplus (Gap) 

Under Low 

Estimate

Surplus (Gap) 

Under High 

Estimate

Surplus (Gap) 

Under Low 

Estimate

Surplus (Gap) 

Under High 

Estimate

Scenario 1 266,684$            (38,951)$             439,850$            134,215$            

Scenario 2 440,104$            (89,640)$             722,638$            192,894$            

Town Receives

50% Share of New Revenues

Town Receives

75% Share of New Revenues

Revenue Surplus (Gap)



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan 24 

Recommendations 
Based on the desire of the Town for the highest and best use of the Collins Company Complex and the Town’s 

overall economic development goals we recommend the following for consideration by the Town with regard to a 

TIF District Master Plan. 

District Boundaries  
The Town proposes to create a district that defines the district boundaries as the Collins Company Complex, see 

Figure 2. This would allow the Town to focus specifically on the improvements and incentives needed to have the 

site sold and developed to its highest and best potential from both the private sector and the Town’s perspective. 

Based on market potentials redevelopment of the site can generate significant economic and fiscal benefits which 

can be leveraged to assist with public and private development costs, as well as support economic development 

and activity in the adjacent downtown area and throughout the Town. The Complex is unique in size, history, and 

scope, and so, focusing on its redevelopment in terms of a TIF district will allow a custom solution that is best for 

the Town and most affective in the market when working with potential buyers/developers.  While the boundaries 

may be confined to the Complex, planning regarding future connection to, needs of, and impact on the village 

neighborhood should be considered as part of any future development of the Collins Company.  Collinsville, like 

the Farmington River and the Collins Company Complex, is a unique asset that is vital to the economic well-being 

of Canton. The development of the Collins Company Complex will have impacts and create opportunities in the 

entire Collinsville area.  

Time Period 
In order to mitigate development costs and incentivize the private sector to undertake a redevelopment a project, 

a minimum TIF period of 20 years is recommended. Twenty years is a reasonable time period for the planning of 

development and infrastructure costs. 

If the Town anticipates using TIF revenues for significant other public infrastructure and related purposes, a period 

of longer than 20 years and up to 30 years is recommended. 

Use of TIF Revenues 
Beyond utilizing the revenues to mitigate development costs for the developer, the Town should specify any other 

purposes it wishes to achieve that could be funded through TIF revenues. See potential uses for TIF revenues 

listed in the Introduction. This amount will determine how much of the revenues should be captured from the TIF 

district versus utilized for the general fund. 

Based on the development scenarios, current market conditions, and the significant costs known to be needed for 

the redevelopment of the site, the site could warrant up to a 50% reduction in taxes over 20 years. Therefore, the 

Town should be prepared to consider a 25% to 50% return of taxes to the developer for a period between 20 and 

30 years. Note that 25% to 50% is the recommendation for the average return to the developer over the duration 

of the TIF, and may scale down over the period from a higher amount in early years to a lower amount in later 

years according to the developer’s needs. 

Financing Mechanisms 
From the Town’s perspective, the most flexible and lowest-risk way to assist a developer would be through a 

Credit Enhancement Agreement (CEA) and is our recommendation for the preferred method. The CEA avoids the 

cost and risk of issuing bonds to support public and private development while still providing a predictable cash 

flow that can be utilized by the developer to obtain additional financing. See Appendix B for more information on 

CEAs. 



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan 25 

The Town should remain open to considering other financing mechanisms such as tax abatement and bonds 

based on the specifics of a given development proposal including the site, infrastructure, and market needs.  

Conditions on Developer 
In addition to the goals, objectives and criteria previously described on page 4 of this document, in considering 

and negotiating support for private development costs, the level of support given by the Town should be 

contingent on the developer meeting the following requirements: 

� A minimum level of private investment (for purposes of the creation of a TIF district related to this site we 

recommend a minimum of $10 million in proposed private development costs) 

� Reasonable buildout timeline for investment and completion of construction with documentation 

indicating the build-out completion plans with supporting market/feasibility information 

� Developer has exhausted use of other available funding and incentives and has integrated other sources 

to the extent possible 

� Developer provides sufficient financial information as deemed necessary by the Town for planning and 

administration of the district 

� Any other documentation requested by the Town to help ensure that the Town will benefit through new 

investment, new employment, or other public benefits 

Administration 
For the establishment and implementation of the TIF district, the Town should make available appropriate 

resources and processes for: 

� Assessment/valuation of property 

� Planning for and construction of infrastructure and other needs related to the district 

� Administration of tax collection and distribution 

� Monitoring and reporting on progress within the district 

 



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan 26 

 

Figure 2 



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan 27 

 

Appendix A | Downtown TIF: Example Uses of TIF Revenues 
The purpose of this overview is to summarize how other communities have utilized Tax Increment Financing in 

their downtowns and to provide examples of the guidelines and criteria that communities have issued for entering 

into credit enhancement agreements with private developers.  

For each community a summary of the TIF arrangement is provided along with a list of the anticipated uses of TIF 

revenues and their costs. The cost estimates are the total cost for each project or program and do not reflect how 

much TIF revenue will actually go towards each.  

Topsham, ME  

In seeking to turn it its Main Street into “a place rather than a conduit for traffic” it implemented a 30-year, 326-

acre TIF district to fund public improvements. Among these improvements were road construction and paving 

improvements including engineering and design costs. Other projects included expanded public transit by 

allocating TIF revenues toward the bus system operating and capital costs. A waterfront park and trail project was 

also included. Other improvements involved sewer infrastructure, streetscape improvements, and Wi-Fi services in 

the district. Altogether, the town identified $12.7 million in projects to be funded with future TIF revenues.  

Use Description Cost Estimate 

Road Improvements Improve and maintain roads and streets that form the 

transportation routes most directly impacted by the 

creation of the District. Road construction and paving 

improvements within the TIF District, including but not 

limited to engineering and design work, sidewalk and 

pedestrian crossing safety improvements, culvert 

repair, and catch basin and storm water infrastructure 

work 

$4,820,000 

(total 30 years) 

Public Transit Costs associated with a route expansion of the 

Brunswick Explorer or other new transit service, 

including capital costs and ongoing costs for transit 

operator salaries, transit vehicle fuel and transit vehicle 

parts replacements. 

$800,000 

(total 30 years) 

Waterfront Park & 

Riverfront Trail 

Design and construction costs associated with a 

Waterfront Park (including a possible parking area), 

Riverfront Trail and a Riverwalk Priority trail and 

overlook. The park will likely be located partially inside 

the District and partially outside the District. It would 

provide an attractive amenity to the businesses 

located and to be located in the future in the lower 

village area near the river. The park and trails are 

directly related to the development in the District and 

would support and promote the District activities. The 

connected trail system will provide an additional 

method of travel from residential areas to the 

commercial area, providing a commuting option for 

employees and another attractive way to move 

$575,000 (total 

30 years) 



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan 28 

patrons to the businesses. The trails and park also 

provide another attraction for tourists in the 

Brunswick/Topsham and Midcoast area. 

Androscoggin River Bike 

Path: 

Design and construction costs associated with the 

Androscoggin River Bike Path including but not 

limited to the following three segments: North side of 

Route 196; Merrymeeting Bridge to Community; and 

Village Drive to Eagle’s Way. TIF Revenues are likely to 

provide the local match for other grant funding. This 

trail would connect Topsham to a regional recreational 

tourist-focused bike path which runs to Brunswick’s 

Cooks Corner. The trail would provide access from 

other regional commercial areas to the businesses in 

Topsham’s village. 

$640,000 (total 

30 years) 

Sewer Infrastructure: Directly related to the creation of the District, the 

Town may be required to relocate an existing sewer 

pump station on Green Street (within the TIF District) 

and build a gravity sewer line and pressure line on 

Canam Road between Mountain Road and Village 

Drive (partially outside the TIF District). This project 

includes any design, engineering and other capital 

costs associated with sewer infrastructure projects 

required for the District. 

$1,550,000 (total 

30 years) 

Site Preparation and 

Relocation Costs: 

Costs associated with preparing sites within the 

District for redevelopment, real property assembly 

costs and the costs, if any, associated with relocating 

individuals or businesses from sites within the District 

that will accommodate commercial redevelopment. 

$3,000,000 (total 

30 years) 

Streetscape 

Improvements 

Improve the streetscape along Main Street, including 

but not limited to historically appropriate decorative 

street lights, benches and signage. Such 

improvements would provide recognizable pathways 

and would communicate more clearly where the 

center of Topsham is located, attracting businesses 

and patrons. 

$250,000 (total 

30 years) 

WiFi Cost of providing WiFi services to foster economic 

development within the District. 

$750,000 (total 

30 years) 

Professional Service and 

Administrative Costs 

Professional service and administrative costs 

associated with the District and the implementation of 

the Development Program. 

$300,000 (total 

30 years) 

Total Municipal Project 

Costs 

 $12,685,000 

(total 30 years) 

 



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan 29 

Yarmouth, ME 

In July 2016, Yarmouth enacted a 30-year downtown TIF to help finance an estimated $39 million in identified 

investments. These investments include purchasing public safety building and equipment including a snowplow, 

fire truck, and emergency response equipment; sidewalk and parking improvements; underground utilities; road 

and natural gas infrastructure; trails and bike lanes; as well as storm and wastewater improvements. Other 

investments in the municipality, but outside the district itself, include economic development studies and 

operations, marketing the town, local agriculture, bus shelters, GIS capital improvements, broadband 

infrastructure, streetscape, energy projects, land acquisition, and more. The Downtown Plan also allows for Credit 

Enhancement Agreements to assist private developers. 

Use & Description Cost Estimate 

Commercial business park land acquisition/ redevelopment including 

construction and permitting 

$3.5 million 

Public safety equipment including snow/plow and fire truck, sweeper and 

emergency response apparatus 

$1.85 million 

Sidewalk and crosswalk upgrades/extensions $2 million 

Parking improvements including facility and related land 

acquisition/design/construction 

$1.5 million 

Mill/Elm Streets and Marina Road/Handy's parking/Pedestrian access $500,000 

Underground utilities including phone/broadband/ fiber $2 million 

Road/Intersection improvements including signalization and traffic calming 

measures 

$2.5 million 

Natural gas infrastructure including street and right-of-way construction $175,000 

Piers, floats and visitor/tourist boat amenities including launch, to support 

District economic activities 

$450,000 

Public fire safety building with associated infrastructure and equipment 

including hydrants and firefighter gear 

$600,000 

Bicycle/Pedestrian trails, bicycle lanes/parking, benches and wayfinding signage 

including capital/ maintenance but strictly limited to clear commercial 

connectivity outside District footprint when not trails-related 

$1.1 million 

Storm and waste water improvements related to flow or drainage to 

accommodate Waste Water Treatment Plan increased commercial capacity and 

business development 

$1.5 million 

Sewer infrastructure improvements including waste water pump station capital 

improvements 

$8.75 million 

Economic Development (ED) operations/costs including ED salaries and 

prorated municipal salaries 

$4.245 million 

ED studies including planning, market analysis and associated consulting fees $350,000 

Capitalization of business revolving loan fund per § 5225(1)(C)(3) for costs 

authorized by 30-A M.R.S. § 5225 and Department rules as amended from time 

to time 

$1 million 

Marketing Town as a business, tourism and ecotourism destination including 

programs/events 

$350,000 



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan 30 

Grant matching related to 30-A M.R.S. §§ 5221-5235 economic development 

activities 

$1 million 

Creation/Funding for local agriculture commercial endeavors including year-

round farmers market and food truck vendors 

$250,000 

Bus shelters and transportation amenities such as transit vehicles, rail 

conveyances, bus shelters/ benches and other transit-related equipment/ 

infrastructure 

$1 million 

GIS Capital Improvement Program including software, ongoing maintenance 

and training 

$350,000 

Streetscape improvements including benches, sidewalks, gateway/way-finding 

signage or system, lighting and a business facade improvement revolving loan 

or grant program 

$1 million 

3-Phase power implementation $500,000 

Broadband/Wireless/Fiber infrastructure and business Wi-Fi network $1 million 

Energy generation and transmission projects including electrical/hydrogen 

stations 

$1 million 

Harbormaster Office construction capital costs and prorated salaries over 

$60,000 base adjusted by 2%/YR from 2016 

$250,000 

Total Public Costs $39 million 

 

Naples, ME 

The town of Naples created a downtown and waterfront TIF district to enhance the local economy, promote 

tourism, and provide access to open space and outdoor recreation opportunities. Specific projects targeted with 

TIF funds include improving public boat launches, improving picnic areas, establishing a visitor information center, 

acquiring land to access open space, installing decorative lighting, establishing a façade improvement matching 

grant program, infrastructure improvements, undertaking planning studies, creating a revolving loan fund for 

economic development, credit enhancement agreements, and others. Individual cost estimates for each use was 

not provided.  

Use Description 

Public Facilities Provide adequate public restroom/changing room facilities in Village 

District and at public recreation sites within TIF district; Improve 

existing public boat launches and docking facilities; Expand the 

number of public boat launches and docking facilities; Where 

appropriate, dredge waterways to provide increased access to 

recreational areas; Provide improved public picnic areas; Establish 

Visitors Information Center. 

Land Development and 

Acquisition 

Develop available town land to ensure adequate public open space 

and public access for visitors and residents; Acquire new land to 

ensure adequate public open space and public access for visitors and 

residents; Acquire new land to ensure adequate public parking for 

visitors and residents. 

Pedestrian Improvements Install sidewalks within Village District to encourage development of 

sidewalk network through Village District and surrounding growth 



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan 31 

areas. 

Parking Improvements Provide adequate and safe public on and off-street parking in Village 

District and Causeway area; Provide Park and Ride Lot to support new 

Lakes Region shuttle bus; Provide bicycle racks and related amenities 

in Causeway area. 

Streetscape/Landscape 

Improvements 

Install decorative lighting within district; Plant trees, other plantings 

within district. Install benches at appropriate locations within district; 

Install, update or replace informational/directional signage to be 

consistent in design and materials. 

Traffic Improvements Implement traffic calming measures where appropriate; Implement 

improved traffic signalization where appropriate. 

Building Improvements Establish Façade Improvements matching grant program to support 

private sector investment with appropriate incentives to preserve 

structures of historic and cultural significance. 

Infrastructure Improvements Where appropriate, construction of public water, sewer, 

telecommunications and power systems to leverage private sector 

investment and job creation. 

Other Improvements Public Safety equipment and/or maintenance made necessary by the 

establishment of the District; Public Works equipment and/or 

maintenance made necessary by the establishment of the District. 

Planning Update Village Design Study to establish design standards for Village 

District and Causeway area. 

Economic Development Establishment and support of Downtown Manager or other staff 

dedicated to economic development. Events/festival support and 

promotion/marketing. Credit Enhancement Agreements. Revolving 

loan fund. Consultant services in support of economic development. 

Employment training for residents not to exceed 20% of total project 

costs. 

Administration Staff time for TIF administration; Consultant services in support of TIF 

administration. 

 

  



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan 32 

Lisbon, ME 

The Town of Lisbon developed a downtown plan that set strategic priorities. To help achieve its vision for 

downtown, the town passed a 30-year Downtown Omnibus TIF District to capture 100% of new assessed value in 

the district. The district is about 175 acres. TIF revenue will be used to support economic development programs 

and public infrastructure in the downtown areas. The town will also use TIF for Credit Enhancement Agreements 

(CEAs) to be negotiated with developers or other parties that purchase a development property for the purpose of 

commercial development. Of note, the TIF District actually encompasses two separate villages, creating two 

separate sub-districts under a single TIF District and program.  

The specific uses of TIF funds are as follows: 

Use Description 

Public Improvements Would generally include pedestrian infrastructure and safety 

enhancements, street trees and small green spaces, signage and way-

finding, lighting and streetscape amenities, and related road, 

infrastructure and public facilities improvements as appropriate. There 

are specific improvements and programs in support of the 

redevelopment of the Lisbon Falls waterfront area, a defunct 

industrial area.  

Economic Development 

Programs 

Programs needed to support redevelopment and business growth in 

the downtown areas include Credit Enhancement Agreements, a 

façade program, and other business programs, through the Lisbon 

Economic Development Department, targeted towards business 

retention and attraction in the downtowns. The terms and conditions 

for each CEA will be negotiated by the Town Manager or his designee 

without need for further public hearing or vote by the Town Council 

based on investment and employment criteria.  

 

Richmond, ME 

In 2005, Richmond approved a 25-year TIF district in its downtown covering about 100 acres. The TIF was 

implemented to achieve the following:  

� Promote long-term sustainable employment opportunities for area residents; 

� Capitalize on the town’s proximity to major highway routes as well as the Kennebec River; 

� Create a more pedestrian friendly and accessible downtown; 

� Establish a gateway to the town; 

� Redevelop, restore and enhance buildings with historic significance within the village; 

� Revitalize Fort Richmond Park; 

� Upgrade town infrastructure including sidewalk improvements, rerouting overhead utilities, creation of 

additional parking, and establishing more green space in the community; and 

� Redevelop older properties in the downtown area. 

Since the creation of the Downtown TIF District, many of the above objectives have been met, such as 

redeveloped and enhanced historic buildings, upgraded infrastructure, a more pedestrian friendly downtown, and 



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan 33 

improvements to Fort Richmond Park (“the Waterfront”). A significant contribution of capital investment in the 

community has also been made by several private business owners and the Maine DECD. 

Several downtown initiatives proposed in the Downtown Revitalization Plan could be implemented with TIF 

revenues and public/private investment, including: 

� Implementation of the Downtown Parking Master Plan 

� Continued implementation of bicyclist/pedestrian infrastructure, including the state-approved Richmond 

Village Merrymeeting Trail. 

� Village gateway and way-finding signage. 

� Restoration of downtown historic buildings, such as the Hathorn Building on the corner of Main and Front 

Street. 

 

  



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan 34 

Appendix B | Credit Enhancement Agreements (CEAs) 
Credit Enhancement Agreements allows municipalities to provide reimbursements of future incremental property 

tax revenues to developers to help cover development costs. Their purpose is to make otherwise financially 

infeasible projects possible to develop by the private sector. Communities with TIF Districts adopt guidelines for 

how and when they will consider CEAs with private entities. These guidelines typically include:  

� Minimum base criteria 

� Guidelines that determine the municipality’s level of participation 

� Application requirements 

� Process description 

The following are examples of the guidance and criteria that communities have adopted that outline how and 

when communities will consider credit enhancement agreements within TIF districts.  

 

Yarmouth, ME (draft guidelines)5:  

Base Criteria for CEAs include projects that: 

1) Would not likely occur otherwise;  

2) Create or retain employment opportunities;  

3) Expand significantly the Town’s tax base; and  

4) Conform to the quality and types of development sought by the Town as outlined in the Zoning 

Ordinances, Comprehensive Plan, the Tax Increment Financing District Development Programs, and other 

policies enacted by the Town Council.  

Process for CEAs: 

CEA Applications (whether initiated by the Town or requested by a developer or business) will be considered by 

the Town Manager, Economic Development Director and the Town Council with all final approvals granted after a 

public hearing, by the Yarmouth Town Council and the Maine Department of Economic Development (DECD). The 

Economic Development Director will coordinate all activities regarding applications and will assist the developer 

throughout the CEA process. The terms and specific details of each CEA will be developed on a case by case basis. 

The Town Manager and the Manager’s designated representatives will negotiate for the Town based on the merits 

of the project and these guidelines following the process laid out in this document. 

CEA Goals: 

A. Creates new jobs  

B. Assists existing business to retain jobs  

C. Creates significant long-term employment  

D. Improves the local economy  

E. Broadens the tax base  

                                                      

5 http://www.yarmouth.me.us/vertical/sites/%7B27541806-6670-456D-9204-

5443DC558F94%7D/uploads/Yarmouth_CEA_Guidelines_draft_recommended_by_EDAB_2016_0113.pdf 

 



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan 35 

F. Improves blighted areas  

G. Creates or expands public infrastructure beyond project  

H. Supports community projects  

I. Creates public benefits for other workers and/or businesses 

Mandatory Guidelines: 

� A need to offset infrastructure costs unique to the site; or  

� A need to offset economic advantages available to a corporate entity if it should develop a project (or 

expand operations) outside of Yarmouth; or 

� A lack of sufficient private or other public funding sources to meet the full capital investments needed to 

undertake a project. 

�  The project creates significant new tax value equal to or greater than $TBD and creates or retains jobs 

within the Town’s established TIF Districts.  

� The applicant is financially capable to undertake the project.  

� The applicant has not engaged in illegal or unfair labor and employment practices; unsafe employment 

practices; or adverse or illegal environmental practices.  

� The applicant is compliant with all statutory and regulatory guidelines of the Town of Yarmouth and the 

State of Maine. 

Guidelines that determine level of municipal participation: 

� The project assists an established business in the Town of Yarmouth, thus retaining existing employment 

opportunities;  

� The project creates long-term, permanent and quality employment opportunities;  The project 

contributes to the revitalization of the Downtown District, Route 1 North and Route 1 South TIF Districts; 

or any other approved TIF district; 

� The project improves a blighted building site in need of rehabilitation; 

� The project creates public infrastructure facilities that have application beyond the particular development 

such as improvements to utilities, telecommunications, traffic patterns, parking facilities, green space, etc.; 

� The project supports or will support community projects, provides job training, provides student 

internships, supports local contractors and suppliers; and 

� The project supports or will support local efforts and programs that assist those who are underemployed 

or low to moderate income (LMI). 

�  The developer has a responsible history with property tax payment and pledges the continued 

responsibility. 

CEA Application Requirements 

A. The cost of public infrastructure improvements unique to the project or site.  

B. The developer demonstrates the financial capacity to undertake the project and provides evidence in support of 

this capacity. Evidence will include but is not limited to:  

1. Development budget and pro-forma 

2. Financial commitments of project lenders  



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan 36 

3. A project implementation plan and schedule.  

C. (All such information shall be kept confidential to the extent permitted by law. The Town Council, Town staff 

and Council designee(s) will sign a non-disclosure agreement, if deemed necessary and to the extent permitted by 

law.)  

D. The project creates incremental assessed tax value equal to or greater than $1 million, excluding personal 

property  

E. The developer is compliant with all statutory and regulatory guidelines of the Town of Yarmouth and the State 

of Maine. 

 

Hamden, ME6 

Mandatory Guidelines: 

The Town’s participation is economically necessary and involvement by the Town is needed in order for the 

project to be undertaken. Justification for economic need and Town involvement must be demonstrated by:  

a) A need to offset infrastructure costs unique to the site, or  

b) A need to offset economic advantages available to the entity if it should build or expand outside of 

Hampden, or  

c) The unavailability of sufficient private or other public funding sources to meet the full capital investment 

needs of the entity seeking assistance. {EP - 01192887 - v3}  

 

2. The project creates new incremental real estate tax equal to, or greater than, five hundred thousand dollars 

($500,000). The value of new, incremental personal property tax value may be considered if the value is equal to, 

or greater than, the value of new incremental real estate value.  

 

3. The applicant must provide evidence of financial capability to undertake the project by submitting one of the 

following:  

a) A letter from a financial institution, government agency, or other funding agency indicating a 

commitment to provide a specified amount of funds, and the uses for which the funds may be utilized.  

b) In cases where funding is required but there can be no commitment of money until approvals are 

received, a letter of “Intent to Fund” from the appropriate funding institution indicating the amount of 

funds and their specified uses  

c) The applicant’s most recent corporate (or other entity) annual report indicating availability of sufficient 

funds to finance the development, together with explanatory material interpreting the report.  

d) Evidence indicating availability of funds if the developer will personally finance the development.  

 

4. Compliance with all statutory and regulatory guidelines of the Town and State. 

 
Conditions of Approval and Guidelines to Determine Level of Town Participation: 

Although an applicant need not meet each of the following criteria, the Town may use them to determine the 

level of participation.  

                                                      

6 http://www.hampdenmaine.gov/vertical/sites/%7B1FCAF0C4-5C5E-476D-A92E-

1BED5B1F9E05%7D/uploads/TIF_Policy_Revised_Draft_7.2.13.pdf 

 



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan 37 

1. The project assists an established business in the Town of Hampden, thus retaining existing employment 

or existing tax base.  

2. The project creates long-term, permanent employment opportunities.  

3. The project improves the general economy of Hampden.  

4. The project improves and broadens the tax base.  

5. The project improves a distressed area within the community in need of redevelopment, or an area 

identified as a priority by the Town of Hampden for redevelopment.  

6. The project improves a distressed area or blighted building in need of rehabilitation, or a building 

identified as a priority by the Town of Hampden for rehabilitation.  

7. The project creates public infrastructure facilities or benefits, which have application beyond the particular 

development, such as traffic upgrades, public parking facilities, etc.  

8. If not from the beginning of the district, then as soon as possible, the project will support community 

projects or create public benefits, such as granting access to open spaces, creating student internships, 

providing job training, supporting local contractors and suppliers, etc. The Town shall set forth the goals 

for municipal benefit in any TIF application that may be required within the TIF District or the TIF 

Municipal Development Plan. 
Application Guidelines: 

The Town’s Planning and Development Committee will act as a clearinghouse and coordinate all activity regarding 

TIF & CEA proposals, and in cooperation with the Finance Committee, negotiate the conditions of the proposed 

tax increment financing as requested by applicants. Working with potential applicants, the Community and 

Economic Development Director, her/his designee or consultant(s) as directed by the Director, as the designated 

representative of the Planning and Development Committee, will:  

 

1. Provide information on tax increment financing.  

2. Discuss project proposals and accept preliminary application information from applicants.  

3. Review preliminary applications, based on policy guidelines, to insure that application is complete, and 

advise applicants of determination.  

4. Make a recommendation to the Planning and Development Committee whether to accept or reject the 

application. If deemed necessary by the Town Manager and the Community and Economic Development 

Director, the advice and assistance of other departments within the Town of Hampden may be requested. 

The Community and Economic Development Director will provide a written decision of the Planning and 

Development Committee to the applicants approving (with or without conditions), or disapproving, the 

preliminary application. Approval of the preliminary application by the Planning and Development 

Committee shall not create any vested rights in the applicants.  

5. Will, following approval by the Planning and Development Committee, assist applicants to complete a 

final application suitable for presentation to the Town Council and the Maine Department of Economic 

and Community Development for formal review and approval.  

6. Make presentation to the Town Council with the recommendation of the Planning and Development 

Committee. The applicant shall be present at the public hearing to answer any questions prior to a final 

vote by the Town Council.  

7. Advise applicants, in writing, of the decision of the Town Council.  

8. Assist the applicant in submitting the necessary documents and information to the Town so that the Town 

can make application to the State, based on direction from the Town Council.  

9. Finalize, with the assistance of staff, the Credit Enhancement Agreement between the Town of Hampden 

and the applicant. If the applicant transfers ownership of its property within the District, the applicant 

must notify the Town Manager, in writing, prior to finalizing the transfer. The new owner must agree, in 

writing, to accept the provisions of the TIF/Credit Enhancement Agreement as presented to and approved 



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan 38 

by the Town Council, before the Finance Director will release any further TIF payments. The Credit 

Enhancement Agreement is subject to the approval of the Town Council.  

10. Monitor ongoing public and private investment in the development project. 

 

 

Gardiner, ME7 

In all instances, applicants for tax increment financing must demonstrate that the City of Gardiner's participation is 

economically necessary and that participation is needed to undertake the project. Such justification is 

demonstrated by:  

� A need to offset infrastructure costs unique to the site; or  

� A need to offset economic advantages available to a corporate entity if it should develop a project (or 

expand operations) outside of Gardiner; or  

� A lack of sufficient private or other public funding sources to meet the full capital investments needed to 

undertake a project.  

� The project creates significant new tax value throughout the City's planned development, commercial, and 

industrial zones, including projects located in the Downtown Shopping District, the Associated Grocers 

Business Park, the area surrounding the Libby Hill Business Park, and other areas the City Council deems 

necessary.  

� The developer is financially capable to undertake the project. 

� The developer is compliant with all statutory and regulatory guidelines of the City of Gardiner and the 

State of Maine 

GUIDELINES THAT DETERMINE THE LEVEL OF MUNICIPAL PARTICIPATION  

� The project assists an established business in the City of Gardiner, thus retaining existing employment 

opportunities;  

� The project creates long-term, permanent and quality employment opportunities;  

� The project contributes to the revitalization of the Downtown Shopping District or other areas in need of 

redevelopment;  

� The project improves a blighted building site in need of rehabilitation;  

� The project creates public infrastructure facilities that have application beyond the particular development 

such as improvements to traffic patterns, parking facilities, green space, etc.;  

� The project supports or will support community projects, provides job training, provides student 

internships, supports local contractors and suppliers; and  

� The project supports or will support local efforts and programs that assist those who are under-employed 

or who are making the transition from welfare to work, etc. 

 

                                                      

7 http://www.gardinermaine.com/Public_Documents/GardinerME_policies/f-TIF%20Guidlines%20Gardiner%20-

%202003%20(2012%20amendment%20incorporate.pdf 



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan 39 

Saco, ME8 

The creation of a TIF District is a policy decision of the Saco City Council made on a case by case basis. The 

Council may override these guidelines if it determines that a project merits such treatment. A TIF is not a right 

under Maine law and these guidelines do not create a right or entitlement for any application, nor should they be 

interpreted to encourage any application. 

Eligibility 

1. Uses -Applicants are limited to manufacturing, assembly operations, warehousing and distribution, 

research and development, and major office, major tourism facilities such as major hotels, major 

amusement parks, and major urban redevelopment projects. Retail uses are generally ineligible except in 

major mixed-use redevelopment project and in extraordinary circumstances approved by the City Council.  

2. Jobs - Applicant shall create at least 15 new full time jobs meeting the guidelines herein within three years 

of TIF approval.  

3. Investment- Proposed investment (new taxable value) must achieve at least $750,000 within three years of 

the approval of the TIF.  

4. Quality of Employment:  

a) Wages -The average hourly wage for new jobs to be created or relocated must be at a rate at 

least 50 percent greater than the federal minimum wage anticipated during the first three years of 

the agreement.  

b) Benefits - A competitive benefits package, including as many as possible of the following: paid 

holidays, vacations and sick leave, and employee health benefits with a substantial employer 

contribution.  

c) Environmental Standards - The applicant shall ensure that high environmental standards are met 

and that all state, federal and local environmental standards are met. 

Basic Provisions 

1. Enhancement Agreements - Tax Increment Financing Districts are generally approved only for credit 

enhancement agreements.  

2. Documentation - The applicant is required to submit all report and documentation so that the City can 

determine if the standards herein are met and to protect the City's financial interests.  

3. Terms - The specific terms of each TIF agreement are negotiated between the City and the applicant, but 

in no case shall the tax recapture for the applicant exceed the limits prescribed below:  

a. Term of TIF- Maximum Recapture to Applicant  

b. 1 - 5 years - 50 percent  

c. 6 - 10 years- 40 percent  

d. Agreements may be structured so that additional recaptured amounts and amounts recaptured 

for longer periods are used by the City for purposes permitted by Maine law, not for the 

applicant.  

4. Costs and Fees - All applicants shall pay for the City's legal fees and any other out-of-pocket costs 

associated with the development and approval of a TIF agreement, regardless of whether it is approved. 

TIF agreements shall provide for a 1 percent annual administrative fee to be deducted from the tax 

recapture forwarded to the applicant during the life of the agreement.  

5. Performance Reporting - The TIF agreement shall provide for the applicant to submit reports and 

documentation in a form satisfactory to the City supporting any costs to be reimbursed by the TIF and in 

                                                      

8 http://www.sacomaine.org/Administration/Policies/Tax%20Increment%20Financing%20Guidelines.pdf 

 



 

 

  Camoin Associates  |  Collins Company Factory Complex Preliminary TIF Master Plan 40 

order to assess the applicant's performance with regard to compliance standards outlined in "Eligibility" 

above, including investment, jobs, wages, benefits, and environmental standards.  

6. Suspension and Recapture of Benefits - The TIF agreements shall contain provisions for the suspension, 

termination and/or recapture of benefits to the applicant if the applicant does not meet compliance 

standards outlined in "Eligibility" above, including investment, jobs, wages, benefits, and environmental 

standards. The agreements shall also provide for the termination and/or recapture of benefits to the 

applicant if the applicant relocates all or a substantial portion, to be determined at the time of agreement, 

of the Saco operation outside the City during the term of the agreement or within five years after its end.  

GUIDELINES FOR ALL APPLICANTS 

 In all instances, applicants requesting tax increment financing must demonstrate:  

1. The City's participation is economically necessary and involvement by the City is needed in order for the 

project to be undertaken. Justification for economic need and City involvement must be demonstrated by:  

a. A need to offset infrastructure costs unique to the site; or  

b. A need to offset economic advantages available to the corporate entity if it should build (or 

expand) outside of Saco; or  

c. The unavailability of sufficient private or other public funding sources to meet the full capital 

investment needs of the corporate entity seeking assistance.  

2. The project creates significant new tax value equal to or greater than $750,000 and creates at least 15 new 

full time jobs meeting the standards of these guidelines.  

3. Financial capacity to undertake the project must be demonstrated by means such as commitment letters. 

If commitments await approval, a letter of "intent to fund" from a reputable bank or other financial entity 

not associated with the project indicating the uses and amounts of funds. The most recent audit of the 

company shall be provided. If self-financing is planned, evidence of the availability of funds, such as bank 

statements shall be submitted.  

4. Compliance with all statutory and regulatory guidelines of the City and state.  

GUIDELINES TO DETERMINE LEVEL OF CITY PARTICIPATION  

Although an applicant need not meet each of the following criteria, they will be used to determine the level of 

participation by the City:  

1. The project assists an established business in the City of Saco, thus assisting in expanding and retaining 

existing employment;  

2. The project creates significant long-term, permanent employment;  

3. The project improves a blighted area or building in need of redevelopment or rehabilitated, or an area 

identified as a priority by the City of Saco;  

4. The project creates public infrastructure facilities which have application beyond the particular 

development such as traffic upgrades, sewer upgrades, public parking facilities, etc;  

5. The project broadens the tax base of the City.  

STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURES  

The City's Director of Economic Planning and Development Programs will coordinate all City activity regarding tax 

increment financing proposals, by providing information on tax increment financing; discussing project proposals 

and accepting preliminary applications from applicants; reviewing preliminary applications based on policy 

guidelines with city staff, attorneys and Bond Counsel; coordinating consideration by the Economic Development 

Commission, and, if approved by the City Council, submitting application to the State. 

 


	12-21-16 Agenda
	File #347; Apln #1642; 122 Main Street
	File #453; Apln #1652; 300-350 Commerce
	Zoning Enforcement Presentation
	09-21-16 PZC Draft Minutes
	11-02-16 PZC Draft Minutes
	11-16-16 PZC Draft Minutes
	CRCOG Representative Selection
	TIF Master Plan

